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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

The Sino-United States trade dispute weighed on China’s economic
growth. As a result, both the Chinese government departments and
businesses retrenched and reduced budgets, including those for solutions
for online/offline payment. This caused the revenue from the principal
business of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’, which together
with its subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”) to fall by 29% to
approximately HK$12,256,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2019
(the "Reporting Period").

Nevertheless, the moves by both the government and businesses to save
on operating costs and energy consumption also generated opportunities
for a company which can help them achieve such objectives. In this regard,
Quantum Thinking Limited can leverage its expertise in the principal
business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments. It is negotiating with a leading telecommunications firm in
China about the development and provision of a platform and software for
reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy consumption for
the latter. This is aimed at taking advantage of the retrenchment by both
the government departments and businesses in China.

Another opportunity for business also arises from the Chinese
government’'s commitment to building a new type of infrastructure for
such industries as information technology and telecommunications. The
upgraded infrastructure will also serve to facilitate the further development
of the market for online/offline payment which, in turn, will also generate
more demand for internet electronic identity authentication. The latter can
help prevent the leakage of personal data and the theft of personal identity
in online transactions and payments. The Group is able to capitalize on this
government initiative as it can leverage its expertise in its principal business
and had already diversified into the business of internet electronic identity
authentication. During the Reporting Period, it acquired a 70% equity stake
in Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co.,, Ltd. GRIIT {548

LR F AR A F) (‘CITIC Cyber Security”), which develops technology
and software for internet electronic identity authentication.

As an added source of income, CITIC Cyber Security will also help the

Group mitigate the impact of retrenchment by the government and
businesses on its revenue.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

The Group continued to work with or form partnerships with companies
which engage in various types of businesses to develop systems and
solutions for online/offline digital payments. Among such projects
undertaken are: the development and construction of a unified payment
system and platform, and the provision of Product Business Operation
Support Systems* ("“PBOSS”) solution of the Internet of Things for
monitoring and managing such system and platform for a leading
telecommunication firm in China; the construction of an e-commerce
network platform for payment and clearing, and installation of point-of-
sales ("POS") terminals for retail chains; the development of software for a
comprehensive payment platform of a leading property developer in the
country; the provision of technical support for and localization of an
automatic system for vending and checking tickets of an intercity railway in
Shandong province; the development of software for centralized
maintenance and management of daily records of operations for the
Shenzhen branch of a leading bank in the country; and the provision of
consultancy on installing and operating a security and protection system at
some compressor stations in a network of pipelines for transmission of
natural gas.

As China is faced with a prospect of a prolonged trade war with the United
States and decelerating economic growth, the Chinese government
departments and businesses are likely to continue to retrench and cut
budgets for the next two to three years. However, the Group can still take
advantage of the difficult situation as it can apply its expertise to help
businesses cut costs and raise efficiency. For instance, the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS IT Co,, Ltd. (&I T

BEEERKEAD ) (‘Shenzhen YBDS"), is negonatmg with a
Ieadmg telecommunications ﬂrm in China about the development and
provision of a platform and software for reduction of both the operating

/\—

cost and electric energy consumption for the latter.

Meanwhile, the Group's majority-owned internet electronic identity
authentication company, CITIC Cyber Security, will try to capitalize on the
Chinese government's endeavours to build the new type of infrastructure
for such industries as information technology and telecommunications as
it can assist businesses in preventing the leakage of personal data and theft
of personal identity in online transactions and payments.

CITIC Cyber Security also began to contribute to the Group’s revenue as it
won a contract in the third quarter ended 31 December 2018 of the
Reporting Period to develop software for centralized maintenance and
management of daily records of operations for the Shenzhen branch of a
leading bank in China.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

The Group also started other projects. In May 2018, Shenzhen YBDS
entered into an agreement with a leading information system integration
and services firm. Under the agreement, Shenzhen YBDS implements a
mobile client technology, which is an application that runs on mobile
devices to enable a company to promote its products and services through
such devices on a leading telecommunications company’s instant
messaging and social media platform. Shenzhen YBDS will also provide
technical support for that application.

In December 2018, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary Guangzhou
YBDS IT Co, Ltd. (E /N 88815 S BB R A7) (‘Guangzhou YBDS’)
succeeded in renewing annual contracts to develop a unified payment
platform of a Shenzhen-based subsidiary of that telecommunications
company and to provide repair and maintenance services for that unified
payment platform.

The Group will press on with the strategy of constructing an ecosystem of
online/offline digital payments in which comprehensive, online shopping
platforms are connected to digital payment systems for public utilities with
a technology for unified communications. It will do so by cooperating with
various types of businesses. Meanwhile, it will further develop its business
of internet electronic identity authentication which fits in with its overall
business strategy.

On behalf of the Group, I would like to express my gratitude to the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), the employees and the
business partners. We will continue to hang together and work for a
brighter future.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 14 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE MO

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The trade war between the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC" or “China”)
and the United States and the resultant slowing economic growth in the
former caused both the Chinese government departments and the
country’s state-owned businesses to be cautious about spending. They cut
budgets, including those for solutions for online/offline payment despite
the rapid growth in the transaction value of the third-party comprehensive
payment in the country which mainly consists of mobile payment and
online payment. According to the People’s Bank of China, the value of the
payments processed by non-bank payment institutions through public
information technology networks grew by 45.23% to RMB208.07 trillion
while the number of such payments surged by 85.05% to about 530.61
billion in 2018. The increases were attributable to the aggressive moves by
the country’s leading e-commerce and internet conglomerates to expand
their shares of the market for online/offline payment as well as to the rising
market penetration of the smartphones. The number of users of mobile
payment in China grew by 10.7% to about 583 million as at December
2018 from about 527 million as at December 2017, according to China
Internet Network Information Centre (“CNNIC") (FF B & B 494512 B L)),
while the number of users of online payment increased by 13% to about
600 million as at December 2018 from about 531 million as at December
2017.

Nevertheless, the state-owned enterprises’ endeavors to retrench and the
Chinese government’s commitment to building the “new type of
infrastructure” for information technology and telecommunications also
meant opportunities for providers of solutions for online/offline payment
and internet electronic identity authentication.

TEME
FEARANMBE([HFE])EXEEZEESE - &
B B AP B AR R I8 R AR /—\EPHKLBUTﬁBF'ﬁ&
BlIEXEERME EOBREE  BRTEE - #A
BAFE=FRaS (2B R DB
SR ZERRIER - BHE BT REE
ﬁ%ﬁ}?ﬁiﬁlJiﬁJZﬁHﬁé%&i/%&?iﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ&ﬁ%a’ﬁﬁ
c B ARIBITRR S NZZT—/\F - FERTT
EZHW%ENAﬁ EERMBEEREN TN FHE
#h04523% 2 AR EE 20807 B 87T - MBI
REAIAEF85.05% = 495306118 - UL ERE -
FERARNELE TR OB AEBEGRE
AEEZLE /IR TIAMENME - AREE
RS 2EE LA - BREPBIGHAEREESP

Lo RS NREFEER - —tF+=
AEI#4)527 B AEMN107%E —F— ) \E+ = A

49583 A MBEEIXNWAPHERBE T
—+F+= A ﬁ5311 A IN13.0% E —F— N\
F+HZAMB6EA

AW BECEERFAS  ARPEBRAES
NBEEFRREEFITRERIERRE] -
NREL/ BTN REBBE TS HRRER
TEREEEER T HE -

FRHBERAR / ZT—NFERE 7



Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR E 5w Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW

Quantum Thinking Limited (the "Company”, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the "Group”) already prepared itself for the
decline in turnover caused by the reduced budgets of government
departments and businesses for solutions for online/offline payment
because it had diversified into the business of internet electronic identity
authentication. Such business also fits in with the Company’s mainstay
business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments because internet electronic identity authentication can help
prevent the leakage of personal data in online shopping and payment. As
an important move in that direction, the Group acquired a 70% equity
stake in Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. GEYI T #R
EHRLRFEHFR AR (‘CITIC Cyber Security’) during the financial year
ended 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting Period"). CITIC Cyber Security has
been preparing to provide both the government departments and private
sector with a solution for internet electronic identity authentication.
Through such projects, the Company will be able to capitalize on the state
policy on building up the infrastructure for such industries as information
technology and telecommunications and to offset part of the decline in
the revenue from its principal business of developing systems and
solutions for online/offline digital payments.

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security won a contract to
develop software for centralized maintenance and management of daily
records of operations for the Shenzhen branch of a leading bank in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). It also developed the
artificial intelligence-enabled elementary English language education pack
('Al-enabled elementary English language education pack’) (‘AR Z
BEEHE KA in Chinese) and produced the pack on a trial basis.

Meanwhile, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co, Ltd. (BMEE{Z BRI AR A 7)) (‘Guangzhou YBDS’) succeeded
in renewing annual contracts to develop a unified payment platform of a
Shenzhen-based subsidiary of a leading telecommunications company and
to provide repair and maintenance services for that unified payment
platform in December 2018. Guangzhou YBDS also continued to provide
another company with consultancy on installing and operating a security
and protection system at some compressor stations in certain sections of a
leading PRC-based petroleum company’s network of pipelines for
transmission of natural gas from western to eastern and southern China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR E 5w Mo

The Company's another wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS IT Co.,
Led. (RYITREE(E ERHBR A 7)) (‘Shenzhen YBDS"), is negotiating
with a leading PRC-based telecommunications firm about the
development and provision of a platform and software for reduction of
both the operating cost and electric energy consumption for the latter.
This is aimed at capitalizing on the trend of retrenchment by both the
government departments and businesses in China.

In addition to the progress in its mainstay business, the Group also started
a business of supplying Bluetooth chips to a company in Shenzhen.

1. Development and construction of unified payment
system and platform, and the provision of Product
Business Operation Support Systems (“PBOSS”)
solution of the Internet of Things (“loT”) for
monitoring and managing such system and
platform

Guangzhou YBDS undertook the construction of the fifth phase of
the unified payment platform of a Shenzhen-based subsidiary of a
leading telecommunications company during the Reporting Period.
The system and platform enable mobile wallet users to make mobile
payments such as those of phone bills and to redeem consumption
points and gift cards. During the Reporting Period, the fourth phase
of the project was finished and 90% of the fifth phase was
completed. Guangzhou YBDS also provided repair and maintenance
services for such system and the work was almost completed. In
addition, Guangzhou YBDS provided PBOSS, which was the solution
of the loT for monitoring and managing such system and platform,
and the second phase of the work was completed during the
Reporting Period.

Guangzhou YBDS intends to replicate the unified payment system
and platform and then sell them to other units and/or subsidiaries of
that leading telecommunications company in 31 provinces in the
PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR E 5w Mo

Construction of an e-commerce network platform
for payment and clearing, and installation of
point-of-sales (“POS"”) terminals

Guangzhou YBDS and its business partner, a Shanghai-based
subsidiary of a third-party payment service company, had together
finished the construction of an e-commerce network platform for
payment and clearing, and the installation of POS terminals at more
than 100 outlets of a retail chain in Beijing. The two parties also
leased out the POS terminals to such outlets of the retail chain.
During the Reporting Period, Guangzhou YBDS and that Shanghai-
based subsidiary of the third-party payment service company
extended their market coverage to the surrounding areas of Beijing.
They plan to install and lease out the POS terminals at the outlets of
the businesses in other service industries such as a convenience
store chain.

Development of software for a comprehensive
payment platform of a leading property developer
in the PRC

Shenzhen YBDS was developing software for the first phase of the
construction of a comprehensive payment platform of a leading
property developer in the PRC for the latter's commercial properties
and e-commerce. The platform will enable the club members or
users of the property developer's commercial properties to digitise
consumption points, gift cards, coupons and other membership
services so as to create a delightful experience of faster, smoother
shopping. During the Reporting Period, the project was finished.

Provision of technical support for and localization
of an automatic system for vending and checking
tickets of an intercity railway in Shandong
province

The Company, through its indirect subsidiary, Hua Strong Network
Science and Technology Limited Company EEX B4R AR A
Al), was cooperating with a software development and system
integration company in providing technical support for and
localising an automatic system for vending and checking tickets of
an intercity railway in Shandong province, the PRC. Approximately
50% of the project had been completed during the Reporting Period
and the contract ceased because the intercity railway company
curtailed the budget for that project.
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5. Development of software for centralized
maintenance and management of daily records of
operations for the Shenzhen branch of a leading
bank in the PRC

CITIC Cyber Security won a contract to develop software for
centralized maintenance and management of daily records of
operations for the Shenzhen branch of a leading bank in the PRC.

6. Provision of consultancy on installing and
operating a security and protection system at
some compressor stations in a network of
pipelines for transmission of natural gas

Guangzhou YBDS also continued to provide another company with
consultancy on installing and operating a security and protection
system at some compressor stations in certain sections of a leading
PRC-based petroleum company’s network of pipelines for
transmission of natural gas from western to eastern and southern
China. The system protects the pipelines against damage and gas
theft.

FUTURE PROSPECT AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

Retrenchment by the Chinese government departments and businesses,
especially state-owned enterprises, is expected to last for the next two to
three years as China is faced with the prospect of a prolonged trade war
with the United States and decelerating economic growth. However,
companies that can help businesses cut costs and raise efficiency will be
able to take advantage of the trend of retrenchment. Those that have the
capability of developing solutions for internet electronic identity
authentication will be able to capitalize on the Chinese government's
endeavours to build the new type of infrastructure for such industries as
information technology and telecommunications. The Group will apply its
expertise to help businesses reduce operating cost and electric energy
consumption and to assist them in preventing the leakage of personal data
and theft of personal identity in online transactions and payments.

The Group will continue to cooperate with various types of businesses in
pursuing the strategy of constructing an ecosystem of online/offline digital
payments in which comprehensive, online shopping platforms are
connected to digital payment systems for public utilities with a technology
for unified communications. Meanwhile, it will further develop its business
of internet electronic identity authentication which fits in with its overall
business strategy.
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To capitalize on the businesses’ moves to cut expenditure and raise
efficiency, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen
YBDS, is negotiating with a leading PRC-based telecommunications firm
about the development and provision of a platform and software for
reduction of both the operating cost and electric energy consumption for
the latter.

The Group's acquisition of a majority stake in CITIC Cyber Security in July of
2018 also began to contribute to the Group’s revenue as CITIC Cyber
Security won a contract in the third quarter ended 31 December 2018 of
the Reporting Period to develop software for centralized maintenance and
management of daily records of operations for the Shenzhen branch of a
leading bank in the PRC. CITIC Cyber Security has also developed the
artificial intelligence-enabled elementary English language education pack
in China and has produced it on a trial basis.

In May 2018, Shenzhen YBDS entered into an agreement with a leading
information system integration and services firm. Under the agreement,
Shenzhen YBDS implements a mobile client technology, which is an
application that runs on mobile devices to enable a company to promote
its products and services through such devices on a leading
telecommunications company’s instant messaging and social media
platform. Shenzhen YBDS will also provide technical support for that
application.

In December 2018, Guangzhou YBDS succeeded in renewing annual
contracts to develop a unified payment platform of a Shenzhen-based
subsidiary of that leading telecommunications company and to provide
repair and maintenance services for that unified payment platform.

The Group will continue to seek opportunities to cooperate with both the
private and public sectors in developing China’s market for online/offline
payment and internet electronic identity authentication.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

To ensure that the Company is financially stable with sufficient financial
resources to continue the development of its proposed projects, the
Company had on 5 August 2013, raised net proceeds of approximately
HKS$100 million through a subscription (the “Subscription”). Immediately
after the completion of the Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771
shares of the Company, representing approximately 72.83% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.
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As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in the following manner:

(M) approximately HK$30,000,000 would be used to pay up the
remaining registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS IT

Co, Ltd* (L RBEHEEF ERHEBR A 7)) (‘Beijing YBDS”);

(i) approximately HK$50,000,000 would be used as further investment
for contribution towards the total investment amounts of
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS; and

(i) the remaining balance would be used as general working capital of
the Company.

The Company had previously applied approximately HK$9,400,000 (or
approximately RMB7,350,000) and approximately HK$5,500,000 (or
approximately RMB4,330,000) of the proceeds to pay up the remaining
initial registered capital of RMB20,000,000 and increased registered capital
of RMB20,000,000 of Guangzhou YBDS, respectively. During the year ended
31 March 2015, the Company had applied approximately HK$19,785,000 (or
approximately RMB15,670,000) of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS.

At the time of the Subscription, only 20% of the registered capital or RMB4
million of Beijing YBDS has been paid up with the remaining 80% or RMB16
million due to be paid on or before 18 December 2014. The Company had
intended to apply to the Bureau of Foreign Trade and Economic
Cooperation of Beijing Municipality Gt RTT$IINE B EE1ER) to
increase the registered capital of Beijing YBDS from RMB20 million to
RMB40 million and its total investment from RMB40 million to RMB80
million. A sum of approximately HK$45.5 million from the proceeds of the
Subscription was earmarked for paying up the initial registered capital and
increased registered capital of Beijing YBDS (the “Capital Increase”). The
intent of the Capital Increase was to enable the Group's subsidiaries to
meet the minimum capital threshold requirement when submitting bids
for proposed projects offered by the relevant telecommunications service
providers in the PRC.

Given the Company has acquired China Mobile Payment Technology
Group Company Limited on 23 December 2014, a holding company that
owns a subsidiary with the aforesaid threshold requirement for bids
submission, this corporate action is no longer deemed to be necessary. The
Company has already commenced the process of de-registration of Beijing
YBDS. De-registration has entered into the final stage and is pending for
the approval of PRC authority.

Moreover, the Company intends to apply the aforesaid earmarked
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million for new potential projects and
for general working capital purposes.
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PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND
ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY

The Group has entered into two loan agreements as lender on 1 July 2017
(the “1st Loan Agreement’) and 24 April 2018 (the “2nd Loan
Agreement’, together with the 1st Loan Agreement, the “Loan
Agreements’), respectively, amongst others, the details of the Loan
Agreements which each of them constituted discloseable transactions for
the Company under Chapter 19 of the Rules (the “"GEM Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) are as follows:

On 1 July 2017, an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Subsidiary A"), as lender, entered into the Tst Loan Agreement with,
Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Quantum”), as borrower, and an independent third party (‘Company A”),
as paying agent of Subsidiary A, in relation to a loan of RMB16,944,500 for a
term of 21 months (from 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2019) at an annual
interest rate of 1% (the “1st Loan”). Shenzhen Quantum shall repay the 1st
Loan in full in one lump sum together with the interest accrued thereon
upon due date.

On 24 April 2018, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Subsidiary B"), as lender, entered into the 2nd Loan Agreement with
Shenzhen Quantum, as borrower, and an independent third party holding
the entire issued share capital of Shenzhen Quantum before the
Acquisition (to be defined thereafter), as chargor (the “Chargor”), in
relation to a loan of RMB3,500,000 for a term of 1 month (from 24 April
2018 to 23 May 2018) at an annual interest rate of 4.36% secured by the
share charge dated 24 April 2018 executed by the Chargor and Subsidiary
B (the “2nd Loan’, together with the 1st Loan, the “Loans”), pursuant to
which the Chargor charged in favour of Subsidiary B over her equity
interest in Shenzhen Quantum (representing its entire issued share capital).
Shenzhen Quantum failed to repay the 2nd Loan upon expiry. For the
further details of the 2nd Loan, please refer to “Acquisition of 100%
interests in Shenzhen Quantum” in this section and the announcement of
the Company dated 12 October 2018.

The Loan Agreements also constituted advance to an entity under Rules
17.15 and 17.16 of the GEM Listing Rules. For details of the Loan
Agreements, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12
October 2018.
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ACQUISITION OF 100% INTERESTS IN SHENZHEN
QUANTUM

On 23 May 2018, Subsidiary B, Shenzhen Quantum and the Chargor
entered into a supplemental agreement to the 2nd Loan Agreement,
pursuant to which the Chargor agreed to transfer the entire equity interest
in Shenzhen Quantum to Subsidiary B for a consideration of RMB3,500,000
in the event that Shenzhen Quantum fails to perform its obligations under
the 2nd Loan Agreement upon the expiry of the 2nd Loan. Shenzhen
Quantum failed to repay the 2nd Loan upon expiry, and therefore
Subsidiary B effected the acquisition which was completed on 4 July 2018
(the “Acquisition”). For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 October 2018.

Shenzhen Quantum is a company established in the PRC in June 2017
which focuses on investment in the development of software and the
platform of services. It holds 70% of the equity interest in CITIC Cyber
Security. CITIC Cyber Security is a joint venture company established in the
PRC where CITIC Technology Co., Ltd* (FR{E 172 &), a subsidiary of
CITIC Group Corporation, is its shareholder. CITIC Cyber Security focuses on
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC.

Pursuant to the investment agreement entered into between, among
others, Shenzhen Quantum, CITIC Technology and CITIC Cyber Security in
September 2017, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate CITIC Technology
in the event that CITIC Cyber Security cannot fulfill the guaranteed net
profit requirement for each of the year 2019, 2020 and 2021. In addition, in
the event that CITIC Cyber Security cannot fulfill a guaranteed average and
aggregate net profit attribution for the 3 years ending 31 December 2021,
or there is material default, or serious illegal business undertaken by CITIC
Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may request Shenzhen Quantum to
acquire the equity interest in CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology. For details, please refer to the announcement dated 12
October 2018.

Provision of system integration services and other value- added technical
consultation services and hardware-related business are core businesses of
the Group. The Group's acquisition of a majority stake in CITIC Cyber
Security in July of 2018 also began to contribute to the Group's revenue as
CITIC Cyber Security won a contract in the third quarter ended 31
December 2018 of the Reporting Period to develop software for centralised
maintenance and management of daily records of operations for the
Shenzhen branch of a leading bank in the PRC.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$12,256,000, representing a decrease of approximately
29% when compared with that in the Previous Period of approximately
HK$17,258,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$21,136,000 compared with loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$8,519,000 for the Previous Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales decreased by approximately 93%,
while revenue from services decreased by approximately 13%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2019, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$41,255,000. Current assets were approximately
HKS$106,555,000, mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$51,278,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$5,338,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade and
other payables of approximately HK$87,542,000. The net asset value per
share was approximately HK$0.018. The Group's gearing ratio, expressed as
a percentage of bank borrowings and longterm debts over total equity,
was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio of current
assets over current liabilities, was 1.21:1 (as at 31 March 2018: 1.34:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

For the Reporting Period, the Group was only exposed to limited currency
exchange rate fluctuation risks as virtually all of the Group’s monetary
assets and liabilities were denominated in Hong Kong dollars as it conducts
its business transactions principally in this currency. The currency exchange
rate risk of the Group is therefore considered to be immaterial, and the
Group did not engage in any hedging activity.
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had operating lease commitments in
respect of rented premises and equipment of approximately HK$9,992,000
(2018: HK$182,000). The large increase in the operating lease commitments
was because of the enlarged office area as a result of the acquisition of
CITIC Cyber Security. As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had no
significant capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had no charges on the Group's
assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 75 employees (including 5 Directors)
(2018: 52 employees (including 5 Directors)). The total remuneration paid
to employees, including Directors, for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$16,609,000 (2018: HK$8,430,000). Remuneration is
determined by reference to market terms and the performance,
qualification and experience of each individual employee. Annual year-end
double pay is paid based on each individual employee’s performance as
recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other benefits accruing
to the employees include contributions made to statutory mandatory
provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme. We also subsidise
our employees for pursuing further studies in related fields

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

For the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the “Future prospect and
plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets” section
below, the Group had no significant investments.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company (“2019 Annual
General Meeting") will be held on Thursday, 5 September 2019 at 2 p.m.
at Regus Conference Centre, 35/F., Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2019 Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 5 September 2019, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Monday, 2 September 2019 to Thursday, 5 September 2019,
both dates inclusive. During this period, no transfer of shares of the
Company will be effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
aforesaid meeting, all share certificates with completed transfer forms must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30
August 2019.

18 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2019

BRRBFRE
ARABR=F-AFAATE (W) FF=
B IE R AR BB (7808 18 S F IR B 15 3B B %
HEBRLRTEERRAFAS (= B—hEF
REEFAR))

TENERDIBFES
AREERRLEARNFTENR_ZE—NLFNARA
(BHM BTz - NFRRAFAELARE
FREZEN ARBER-_ZE—NFNLA=A
(ER)Z-Z—AFLARB(EHN) (HEM
BEEER) EEHERRELTFE - RZHER
MAZPIBARBRMDBEERL - AFEERT
BRI REgRkNE FIRE - fTEREEREZZ
BPEBNESER-Z—NENA=TH(EH
) TTFUE=Z+tOEEARRAZEERMHBFLE
L EEEMEFIBERAR (LI AEBETE
BEARERI183FAEFMA N 541E) - UPHEERL °



Corporate Governance Report

k=

/\-/-\— \

/D#&m

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the Code throughout the Reporting Period except for
the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8, A.2.1 and C.2 of the Code as
explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8

Code provision A.1.8 stipulates that the Company should arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Board considered that under the current
situations of close management of the Group and business scale, the
possibility of actual litigation against the Directors is very low. The
Company will consider reviewing various insurance cover proposals and
will make such an arrangement as appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Ho Yeung are
focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating and implementing business strategies to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.
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Code Provision C.2

The Board has conducted a review of its risk management and internal
control system under Code Provision C.2.

The Board has engaged independent consultants to execute the internal
audit and risk management functions. The Board reviews risk management
and internal control systems on an annual basis and when necessary.

A review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted and the Company considers them effective
and adequate during the Reporting Period.

However, the announcements in relation to the Loans and the Acquisition
were not timely published. For details of the Loans and the Acquisition,
please refer to “Provision of financial assistance and advance to an entity”
and "Acquisition of 100% interests in Shenzhen Quantum” in this report
and the announcement of the Company dated 12 October 2018. The
Company will review and revise its internal control policies and procedures
in order to prevent the occurrence of similar non-compliance of the GEM
Listing Rules in the future.

The management of the Company will take measures to prevent similar
incident from occurring in the future by taking active steps to comply with
the disclosure requirements from time to time.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal control of the
Group to ensure an effective and adequate internal control system is in
place. The Board also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management controls.

In 2019, the Company has followed up on those recommendations made
by Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (“Zhonghui Anda’) as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors adopted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprised the following members during the year and at the
date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Ho Yeung

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Ms. Chan Nga Man
(Resigned on 3 April 2018)

Mr. Wong Kin Kee
(Appointed on 3 April 2018)
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Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
past financial and operating performance and discuss the Group's direction
and strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the attendance of the Board during the year are as follows:

ExEE2
%%.E.E’J‘Egﬁiﬁﬂ/ﬂ/g;% - Hh Bt d
EMBREEES - Watwm AR E 277 F MRS o

RBEHRE - ABTOREZFSSH -

TREJEEEG 2 FAHFELCHFE

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
held during held during
the year the year
2978 -V R
FRETZ FRETZ
EEEERANE RBREAGERH
Mr. Wang Xiaogi TR A 4/4 /1
Mr. Ho Yeung fAlFESE 3/4 /1
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEFTE 3/4 /1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki M= Lt 4/4 11
Ms. Chan Nga Man PRIESE 2+
(Resigned on 3 April 2018) (R=ZF—/\FPA=HEHMT) ~/- —/-
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EERALE
(Appointed on 3 April 2018) (R=ZFE—NFH = HEZA(T) 4/4 /1
Functions of the Board EEg R
The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strateqy, ZZSBEHIFIAEE 2 BERE  ZERILE
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and B3k % - EAXA R ZUAREMEREER K
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The B EE - EF A S KA FE L E NITHBIAE
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functionsto ~ HBAR THITESLEERE - MREBHEES
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving therightto  BEBENRERATE 2N - EEEZSBAEEHE
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board M R{THBE M2 ENR TEEER  B0E

delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group’s financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the year, the Group has established a risk management policy
and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management policy covers various
aspects including systematic risk identification and assessment and risk
response processes, and a comprehensive risk monitoring and reporting
mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft proposed agendas for all Board and committee
meetings are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
the Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments
and financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

According to the Code Provision A4.1 of the Code, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term of service, subject to re- election.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang is
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 1 June 2017 and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his first appointment and
has renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
another three years commencing on 17 May 2019, and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
1 June 2017 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in

June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of

accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Ms. Chan Nga Man was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 1 August 2017. Ms. Chan has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
on 1 August 2017 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Ms. Chan has
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 3 April
2018 due to her wish to devote more time on her other personal
endeavours.
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Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
3 April 2018 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the current
independent non-executive Directors as regards their independence of the
Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that
each of the current independent non-executive Directors to be
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the articles of association or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office. Mr. Tse Yee
Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-
executive Directors, are appointed until 16 May 2022, 31 May 2020 and 2
April 2021, respectively.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogji, and Mr. Ho Yeung are
focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between the executive Directors and
members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 11 November 2016 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and the internal
control system of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and audited annual
results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee and it is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, four meetings of the Audit Committee were ~ RIREHIR - EREE @ LRI EH - B
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee ZE@@:% K8 HELIEFBNOT ¢
meetings are as follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Audit Committee
meetings held
during the year
e
J\J'Ailﬂfﬁiﬁ'z
%F;E g PN
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE 3/4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit EEE 4/4
Ms. Chan Nga Man PRAESEZ +
(Resigned on 3 April 2018) (RZZF—/VFMAH=HEHE) -/=
Mr. Wong Kin Kee =EERELAE
(Appointed on 3 April 2018) (R=ZF—NFYH=HEZF) 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee’) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 2 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non- executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once annually or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of Mr. Ho
Yeung, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Ms. Chan Nga Man.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee  WIREHIRT - HEE @ L ET— A3 - )
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration ZE&@ &% K8 HELELBNOT ¢
Committee meeting are as follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee
meetings held
during the year
HERE
RERETZ
FMEESESERE
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WiEE LA /1
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Resigned on 3 April 2018) BHELT(R=F—/\FHA=HET) ~/-
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BFRESER=ZF-NFHA=HEZE) /1

EFRBEBARAR / —T-NFERE 27



Corporate Governance Report
A fts /N
ﬁﬁ%%/ﬁﬂ%%

The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

—  the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”’) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 2 December 2013 in
compliance with the Code Provision A.5.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has performed its
duties to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Mr.
Wong Kin Kee.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
achievement of the measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
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In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered  BLHIEEE @ 2HAME * ARREBEZHEZE

from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural ~ EEEZ @R E % Tt - BIFERERMR] -

and educational background, professional experience, skills and XL RHBBEE S BHELE - FAELRANH -

knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates

EXeXB2ZERURAES RRA

FH
2

WEE

will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the EAZBRIUNZREB KGO ENEEZEKE Z b

benefits of diversity on the Board.

ZH8E

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee  RIREHIRE @ IRREZ B @ Y817
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination ZEBekE8HEZBHT :

Committee are as follows:

—R @u °:|{LEF%

Attendance/
Number of
Nomination

Committee

meetings held

during the year

HERE

RERBITZ

REEEE

BERE

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA 1

Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit E /1

Ms. Chan Nga Man (Resigned on 3 April 2018) RIEZ L L(R=F—NFHA=HFHT) ~/-

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BFERESER=ZF-NFHA=HEZE) /1
ETBHERAR / ZT—NFEHRSE 29
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the year are disclosed and explained in this Corporate
Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials

about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
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During the financial year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this REE_-_Z—HAF=A=+—BILHKEERE
report, an individual training record of each Director is set out below: EAREAE  FSEFZEAFZIIGESEIHIWOT

Attending or

participating in

courses/seminars/
conference/ Reading materials

workshops relating to rules
relevant to rules and and regulations
regulations and the and discharge of
Group’s business/  directors’ duties and
directors’ duties responsibilities
HERS mE
FEEER,
ESREREL MEEEERR
ERREH EBIR BT
R/ Mg/ EZHER
Name of Director EEng L TR BEEzms
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wang Xiaogj FTEEEE v v
Mr. Ho Yeung - v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEHEE v v
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEFEE v v
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Resigned on 3 April 2018) BRUEEL T (R=ZF—FHA=AEHE)
Mr.Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BERESE(RZF-NFHA=AEZF) v v
COMPANY SECRETARY DNEMWE

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, AR RERE—RIMBIRIBIRH KR ES L (£
Michael (“Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is B4 BERFWE - BEE2BHTEZ LSRR
accessible by all executive Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho ~ BIREBHI AT AL A - ERITEFRFEER
Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaogji, our executive Directors, are the principal THRBEEREREEZFEBEA -HE_ZT
persons with whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the year ended 31 March ~ —HAF=A=+—HILFE - RELEEEXTD
2019, Mr. Tung has received relevant professional training of not less than 70 15 /)N 2 1R B B 5 FI ATR TH H ek M 38 4 A
15 hours to update his skills and knowledge. s
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CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING 3 YEARS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 February
2017 in relation to the change of auditor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited (“Grant Thornton") has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 14 February 2017. On the same date, the Board appointed
McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited (‘MMW?") to fill the casual vacancy as the
auditor of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 November
2017 in relation to the change of auditor, MMW has resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 27 November 2017. On the same date,
the Board appointed Grant Thornton to fill the casual vacancy as the
auditor of the Company until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year were
audited by Grant Thornton whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that Grant Thornton will be re-appointed as
auditor of the Company for approval by the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditor, Grant Thornton, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follow:

RBE=FFBXEE

A NRBRA—ET—+tF_A+HERNEAE
BT REEAAERTIEE B8R (ES) @5rh
EEMERAR(BE ] BB IARRZEE -
E-Z—+tF_A+tWNBHBER - RRAB - &F
CCERIERTEBEAMESMARARRS
B |) AR RIZEE - LUERFRES = ER o

BUALRRERA - T—tF+—A=-+tBER
REMERRBMNASARE REEBCE
EARRRZEE BT —+F+—A=+tH
BER - RAR EFECZEBRA/ARAZ
i EMAARREERRAFASERER
1k e

o B B 5 B
AERZARBGRAVBEHRREHER(FE)E
RN R AR AR ER - R RITZRE
BFRXeLEn BERZESCRESSRE
BRARAREERRAFAG LEFZEHRAR
R B2 R BED AR A B R AL

REBEFE  MARAZBERFRRELEZLIE
BERREMENHEM 20T

Type of Services HK$’000
R %38 5l FET
Audit services EiZRB 350
Non-audit services FEZIRES -
Total #Et 350
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from 1 January
2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. According to the
Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the Company may
declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

IR S BUR

ARREE-ZT-NF—A - RERAKREEE -
BEBRAEFARBRR(TRR]) DEFAAEFHN
B SRR EHREARAERERRERZE -
RIBEEHER - FRIKERIAES - RABIRA]
PEE IR RS SRS o

RIEREHE  EFeNEZRNEEIREREA
AERIATHE :

() AEREZ—REBAARR

(i) AREZEEESMEHKFE

(i) AREZRBDESAMMN

(v) ARARANEEEKEREZRE B LA
IR

V) AREBREFRIAREBES - FHEE LK
KERFRZABER :

Vi) AEEETTARERINZ AR SRS ;

(vii) —RRTR

(viii)  EERB AR N LA K P BE 52 2 AN £ B 7S ok B
BRI 2 b AE RN 2 - &
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the management has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

—  the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risk that the Board regards as acceptable
for the Group to bear;

—  thelikelihood of the risks materialising;
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—  the Group's ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the
business of risks that do materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables it to
build up a cumulative assessment of the state of control in the
Group's and the effectiveness with which risk is being managed;
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— the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

—  the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) to
execute the internal audit function. Zhonghui Anda has conducted an
internal control review of the effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting procedures, systems and control for the period from 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2019 in accordance with the requirements under Code
Provision C.2, according to the scope of review agreed and approved by
the Audit Committee.

Zhonghui Anda reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee was satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in
the areas of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
being reviewed after implementation of the recommendations on the
internal control defects. The Audit Committee reviews annually the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system and associated
procedures and has access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and
responsibilities with respect to risk assessment and risk management.
Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have been
implemented with adequate resources during the year.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

—  Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

—  Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

In 2019, the Company has followed up on those recommendations made
by Zhonghui Anda as part of its comprehensive review on the internal
controls of the Group. As such, the Group's internal supervision and risk
prevention measures continue to improve.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the year ended 31
March 2019

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditor of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of Company in Hong
Kong at Unit 1201-5, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in paragraph headed “How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

There are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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PRINCIPLES

The Company is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2019, with an aim to
demonstrate its efforts on sustainability developments to both internal and
external stakeholders.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM made by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The report primarily highlights the
Group's major initiatives and activities implemented from 1 April 2018 to
31 March 2019 (the “Year”) for the three environmental aspects and the
eight social aspects. For information regarding the governance section,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report included in the Annual
Report 2019.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is committed to the long-
term sustainability of its business, as well as providing support to
environmental protection and the communities in which it operates.
Quiality products and services are delivered to customers, and their
business is managed prudently under sound decision-making processes.
Dialogue is maintained with stakeholders such as shareholders, customers,
employees, suppliers, creditors, regulators and the general public. The
Group seeks to balance the views and interests of these stakeholders
through constructive conversation with a view to setting the course for
long-term prosperity. The board of directors (the “Board”) is responsible
for evaluating and determining the environmental, social and governance
risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and
internal control systems are in place and operate effectively.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of system integration
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business. The Group has also expanded into the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") market in the areas of manufacturing of
ancillary high-tech software and hardware products; developing and
establishing integrated online platforms for distribution of mobile products
and provision of value-added services; and setting up joint ventures with
multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile application
services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
for group companies in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong
Kong (the "Hong Kong office").
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Beijing Huagin World Technology Limited Company (3t 3 & £ X i &l
A BR A 7)) (‘Beijing Huaqin’) and Hua Strong Network Science and
Technology Limited Company (R A4 B R 2 E) (‘Hua Strong”)
are principally engaged in the trading of residential gateway products,
including routers, G-PON equipment and E-PON equipment in the PRC and
have an office located in Beijing (the “Beijing office”).

Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. (RIITTR{E48%
2 7 A8 R A 7)) (‘CITIC Cyber Security”) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC and have an office
located in Shenzhen (the “Shenzhen office”). The Group acquired entire
100% equity interests in the Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information
Co,, Ltd. together with its subsidiary CITIC Cyber Security on 4 July 2018.

This report will focus on the environmental and social aspects of Hong
Kong office, Beijing office and Shenzhen office.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and regulatory — F| %%

bodies, employees, customers, suppliers a

Group discusses with the stakeholders through various channels for their
expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as below:

Stakeholder

nd society and the public. The

Expectations

SHBEERER  BAREERE -
P HERAEEERAR -
REHEF

B EE

®E
AEEERZRE
SHEE N RRENHERAEENE

=P ONNE

Communication and feedback

AR E HAE BERRE

Shareholders Financial results To improve profitability

[ PR RE&MEN
Corporate transparency Regular information disclosure
BRBEPHE THIBEE R

Governments and regulatory bodies

BT M EEHE

Employees

(==

Customers

P

Suppliers
Hrem

Society and the public
HERAR

Sound risk control

;T_‘D%L’_LEAI\E;S i*

Compliance with laws and regulations
FASOZEUTINE A

Relevant conference

HEEE

Career development platform
BEERYA

Salary and benefits

¥ra KiEr

Safe working environment

THERELZE

Customer rights and Interests protection

BN RERRE
Customer information security

EFEMZE

Integrity cooperation
BIEEE

Business ethics and credibility
[HESEEGINER

Environmental protection

RIFRE
Employment opportunities

EME

To optimize risk management and
internal control

B e TR K A R4

Compliance operation
BRGE
Direct communication

HEAB

Promotion mechanism

WAL L

Competitive salary and employee benefits
BEBRF hmEe LEERN

To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
REESFIIEMERL 2 EH

Compliance marketing
BREH
Customer privacy protection

B RLRERE

To build a responsible supply chain
wmReaE TN HERE
To perform the contract according to law

HOLREHY

To put into use environmental protection
and energy saving equipment
BRAERRRETALR M

To provide employment opportunities

REMERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT EEMMG

In the Year, the Company undertook its annual materiality assessment € » ARG E@ETHEE T BT - Eh %
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and/or surveys with internal N 3B M IMNER R AHRE & #1175

and external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating, IASBIS HEBEM S BEHE AN L IE - BB Lt

environmental and social impacts towards its business. @ o

Materiality Matrix = Z M 45 & [&]

IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS ¥t#5n& M EE 1t

MR K

0
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
IMPORTANCE TO BUSINESS
HEBHMEZN
Environmental BB Social e Operating practices K& H R
1. Greenhouse gas 1. SEEREHR 9 Localcommunity 9. EihiEZE 17, Economic value 17. FTEEREHE
emissions engagement generated BE

2. Energyconsumption 2. BEREFE 10. Community 10. HEREKEE 18. Corporate 18 EER
investment governance

3. Water consumption 3. KEJRMEFE 1. Occupational health 11, BE¥MBE K 19. Anti-corruption 19. RESF
and safety T

4. Waste 4, EEY) 12. Labourstandardsin 12. #tfESE4 T 20. Supply chain 20. HEEER
supply chain B management

5. Saving energy measures 5. EPREFEHE 13. Training and 13, FEHIRERE 21, Customersatisfaction21. B mEE
development

6. Useofrawmaterialsand 6. FEMERBE 14 Employee welfare 14, REEF 22. Customerprivacy ~ 22. BFEBFL

packaging materials Y EHE
7. Utilization of energy 7. PURERMEA 15 Inclusionandequal 15 HEETE
&
B8

resources opportunities 1
8. Use of chemicals 8 LEBGRFEM 16 Talentattractionand 16. 3| & # 2
retention AA
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group has introduced environmental protection awareness into its
day-to-day operations. Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy
consumption and paper wastage. Various sustainable development
measures have been adopted to address environmental responsibilities,
including (i) the establishment of general guidelines for efficient use of
resources; (i) daily cost-saving proposals such as the prior use of recycle
papers for printing and setting double-side printing as default setting to
reduce the use of paper; (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper out;
and (iv) staff are encouraged to switch off the light after the use of a room
to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed to continuously
improve the ways these initiatives are being promoted. In addition, the
Group has encouraged green office concept and promoted the 3R
concept, i.e. Reduce, Reuse and Recycle. It has actively reminded its
employees the prevention of environmental pollution and encouraged
waste reduction.

During the reporting period, fuel consumption of motor vehicles is the
major source of nitrogen oxides (“NOx”"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and
particulate matter (“PM") emissions. The motor vehicles are strictly used for
picking up the staff and business activities.

There is no hazardous waste produced from the operations of Hong Kong
office, Beijing office and Shenzhen office. Non-hazardous waste produced
from the operations of these three offices is mainly comprised of general
office consumables which have no material impact on the environment,

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's emissions in
the Year are shown in the table below:

Gaseous Emissions from the Use of Motor Vehicles

B
BER

AEBCRBERLETEGRRED BEE

BERVHERERIREBMAR  YERAZIER
FEEREMNWABERREE @% ) I E B 2
ERERZ —MRIES : () B EEREZ - WITED

Eﬂ%f‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@HQZELA&H%EJKWEQET&EE%EEH
ENSUR ARk A= ¢ (i) B AR EILUR DR
FA RWVWEBEIEFREHEZBERER
#H UWBEREE AEEB NI BFERNEZSRE
FEEHEIT 0 o JboN - REB IS A M A B
SRMERMSCGURER - ERRERBE)
REBEGRERERN ILRFE SARSER A
K e

RIRERRE - TEREDERERARIL([EEL

1) meey(mEtw )RR ([ 'Ry )
PRV E R AR o TE BRI E ER N A ER X

BT REBZSHRE -

BEMER ARNERMNRIIRERELER

BRYEELAEERERY - Z=—BARIEELE
EBBMELNEZTERYIZERYRBELE
BEAREN—RPRFEM -

AEEFAFRNEERFERIERATRATR

ERREELERNREERE

Indicator Unit 2019 2018
R B —g-hrE  —B-N\E
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions Kg 548 N/A (Note 1)
RE T 548 @A (MEE1)
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions Kg 0.09 N/A (Note 1)
k=R 7z 3 TR 009 EM(KaE1)
Particulate matter (PM) emissions Kg 040 N/A (Note 1)
SRR HE AR T 040 TNEA(HfET)

Note 1: Since the Group does not have motor vehicles, no air emissions include nitrogen oxides,
sulphur oxides and particulate matter are generated.

Fifet 1 SR AREY S - R EEL SRR (BEA

gﬂb% lu,%ﬂﬁ%&%*l%)
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Greenhouse gas (“GHG"”) Emissions

BEREBHENE

Indicator Unit 2019 2018
BE B —E-hEF —E2-N\E
Direct emissions from use of motor vehicles Kilogram of Carbon dioxide 16,559 N/A (Note 1)
equivalent ("Kg of CO,.")
ERAEMEENEETNRE Fr_&|cHmES 16559 @A (M)
(FR=-E‘ttREE])
Indirect emissions from electricity consumption Kg of CO,, 42,479 21,714
EEANEEZEINE Fr-_SHmES 42,479 21,714
Other indirect emissions from water consumption Kg of CO,, 1,548 1,206
and disposal of paper waste at landfills
F7K RA MR R e B R AR ) H (b PR IR HE R E FTr-_AtHEE 1,548 1,206
Total GHG emissions Kg of CO,, 60,586 22,920
BERBHINEE FTrR_AHEE 60,586 22,920
Floor area (of the offices) Square meter ("M?’) 2,356 458
BEEE AR FHARAFITHKI) 2,356 458
GHG emissions intensity Kg of CO,/M? 26 50
BERBHERERE Fr-atmEs Tk 26 50

Note 1: Since the Group does not have motor vehicles, no relevant greenhouse gas is generated.

FiaT -

ENAEETETE MU BEEARAEREE -

Waste BEZEY)

Indicator Unit 2019 2018

BE B —E-hEF —E2-N\F

Hazardous wastes produced in total Kg N/A (Note 1) N/A (Note 1)

MEEREREEYES T TER (MaE1)  TER K

Intensity of hazardous wastes produced Kg/Mm? N/A N/A

per square meter of floor area

BYAKEEEEMELESEEYTE Fr/FHK NEMA NEA

Non-hazardous wastes produce d in total Kg N/A (Note 2) N/A (Note 2)

EEREEEYES T TER (MeE2) TERKE2)

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes produced Kg/Mm? N/A N/A

per square meter of floor area

BYAKEEEEMELREEZEYTE Fr/FHK NEMA NEA

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes, clinical ~ A3t 71 : AEBEELBREFWEELEBEEEEY - Bt
wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations. ZREY - BEEYLESECEYE -

Note 2: Non-hazardous wastes produced by the offices have been minimal and are mainly — AffF2 = 3% *Eémﬂigﬁa@%ﬁ%%w CBEXEBEREYIR
comprised of general office consumables which have no material impact on the f“jfﬂﬁﬁﬁ”ﬂ R AFEM - Bt WEE(E
environment. Therefore, no relevant figure is quantified. BET -

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-  R¥R&E B - NEB W T B E R S EKRERNF

compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. In addition,
there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.
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Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities on
the environment. A number of initiative measures designed to conserve
resources have been introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the
need for resources conservation and achieving efficient utilisation of
resources.

As mentioned in the above “Emission” section, the Group has several
policies to minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. The
Group has required its employees to switch off the equipment, including
air-conditioners, computers, printers, photocopiers and lights when they
get off their works. Air conditioners are set for indoor temperature between
24 to 26 degrees Celsius in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity
usage. In addition, the Group has encouraged the installation of compact
fluorescent light-bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diodes
(LED). Water efficiency initiatives have also been promoted as the Group
has reminded its employees to check the water supply equipment, keep
the water tap off when not in use and arrange for immediate repairs in case
of leakage or other damages.

Although the Group has no production facilities, the Group has required
environmental friendly practices on its suppliers and business partners. For
example, it required its business partners to have certified with the
ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other related environmental management
system certifications. During supplier and business partner selection
processes, it considers environmental protection as one of the key
assessment criteria and expect the potential impact on the environment to
be minimised during normal operations of its suppliers and business
partners.

Relevant consumptions from operation

BIRE A
AEEHEEEREEFIDHRENTE - K

SEEHLZEGHNERNER - REESRE
BREANRAYNAE RN BRI

N EX B | — ATl - AEBEEHESE T

BEANZERVEENHES - $’$.x*1@,§\
TETNIIRRRE BT - B - FTEDH -
52BN K FRRA R fﬁoﬂmmiwmﬁﬂéé&i
f%ﬁ%Eéz4:t26f‘ BREEREE o 1A - K&
BB ZEBEE TS HE NEX ZBE (LED) °
AEBIMERERKEGZTE - REEBREMHK

R ETRKKBEKESR - YHRHBRIRKK
HBRIENR LB E -

BEARBUVELIERE  AEEEREHER

REBBHRBURRIEETF L - 0 HPIEK
BT B 15014001 3¢ GB/T24001 3R 55 8 E Ath

AR EEIEERRE - MM EE R EREEN
EEAETR  AEEBRBREGSAESF —EE

BFEEE - BLURE R R A
P R B SR TR -

EEELNWHEBERE

Indicator Unit 2019 2018
=R By —F-NF —E-N\F
Electricity consumption in total kWh 51,681 30,856
HREE TR B 51,681 30,856
Electricity consumption intensity (per square meter of floor area) kKWh/Mm? 219 674
REERE (BFHKERERE) FTREFHK 219 674
Water consumption in total Cubic metre ("M?") 865 512
BAKE SHAR(TLAR]) 865 512
Water consumption intensity (per square meter of floor area) M3/M?2 04 1.1
FKEEE (BT KEEERE) SRR K 04 1]
Packaging materials used for finished products Kg N/A (Note 1) N/A (Note 1)
BX cn P FR B 8 Mkt T NER K1) TER M)
Packaging materials consumption intensity Kg/unit produced N/A N/A
BEDEERERE TR/ EEEM T3 A TEA
Note 1: No packaging material is consumed by the Group. Bfet 1 AEBEIWEEFEDEDH -
FTRERRRR / —T—NFERE 45
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different kinds of
recycling activities and minimising the use of natural resources. In the Year,
there is no significant impact on the environment and natural resources
from the operations.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees based
on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the recruitment
process. To ensure that the rights and interests of employees are well
protected, employment contracts must be discussed and agreed with
prospective employees regarding salaries, benefits, annual leave and other
employment related issue, prior to signing by the employees.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance reviews.
Dismissals of employees have been performed in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong and other local laws and
regulations.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Both Hong Kong and Mainland offices are provided with a five-day work
week arrangement with annual leaves and other leaves provided to allow
employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also provided
medical benefits, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong employees only) and other
benefits to employees.

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination

The Group's human resources policy states and their management ensure
that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of age, sex, marital
status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality or religion, etc. Any
form of discrimination is prohibited during any of their decision making
processes, including normal operations and any recruitment process.

During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with all
applicable laws and regulations of labour practices, including but not
limited to the (i) Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FFZE AR
HFNER & B))% )); (i) Law of the People’s Republic of China on Employment
Contracts (P ZE AR ZMBI LB & RE); (
(Hong Kong) ({18 & & 51 ) (& 7)); and (iv) Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Hong Kong) (& B & 1&51) (B ).

(iii) Employment Ordinance
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As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed a total of 75 employees. The
distribution of workforce classified by different catalogues is as follows:

By gender
Qe E-B)

Female 1%
27%

#EE - W ARERE D ZBEABDMAT

Male B4

By age
RERE D
Over 50 Under 30
years old years old
505%A 30BRA T

5% 33%

30-50
years old

30X 2 505%
62%

Health and Safety

The Group places great importance on its people-oriented principles and
employees’ health and safety, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in Beijing, installing air purifiers at offices, made available
medicines for employees in case of sickness, etc.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the Group
has established a health and safety management practices to enhance
their safety management, and promote employee safety awareness and
established safety measures, for example, they will regularly send emails
and relevant materials to employees to advocate the importance of a safe
working environment.

73%

By location
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The Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its suppliers
and business partners, for example, business partners have certified with
OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related occupational health and safety
management system certifications.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant
occupational health and safety legislations and other relevant legislations
of Hong Kong and the PRC. No work-related fatalities and no loss days due
to work injury were noted.

Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages them to
participate in continuous learning through their career with them. The
Group has its tailor made IT-related examination system for internal
employees from most of the departments. Apart from this, it has also
provided training courses to employees or subsidised them in joining
external training courses organised by professional bodies. On the other
hand, learning experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, and improvements in soft skills will benefit employees in their
career development in the long run.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child labour
and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention of child labour
and forced labour were included in the employee handbook and human
resources policies.

The minimum requirement for newly recruited middle-level and senior-
level employees of the Group are graduates from University. Background
checks and reference checks of potential new employees were also
performed during the recruitment process. Relevant details regarding
treatment of employee violation were also included in the employee
handbook and human resources policies.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations including but
not limited to the (i) Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#F £
A R £ A B 4 &) 5% )); (i) Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Employment Contracts ({ 1 2 A R X 1 B & & & [ & )); (i)
Employment Ordinance (Hong Kong) (£ 1& & & 1 ) (& 7)); and (iv)
Employment of Children Regulations (Hong Kong) ({18 B RE R FI) (&
7)) that preventing from employment of child or forced labour by the
Group. In addition, there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the
Year.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and business
partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line with the Group, it
has imposed strict requirements (both environmental and social
requirements) on its suppliers and business partners. Its partners are all
worldwide reputable companies and known for their ethical standards. In
selecting and evaluating its suppliers and business partners, their attitudes
towards environmental and social issues, including human rights, equal
opportunities etc., were also considered. During the reporting period, there
were a total of 6 suppliers and all of them were located in the PRC.

Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand effect
and product quality. It has set high requirements for its suppliers and
business partners during its selection phases. The Group has also
emphasised product quality improvements, provided after-sales services to
its customers, and has continuously work closely with its customers and
business partners to solve problems.

During the reporting period, no recalls of products had taken place.
Besides, no product complaints were received, nor any litigation was laid
against the Group during the reporting period. Any incidents (mostly
technical problems) were resolved immediately once occurred.

Regarding the Group's trademarks, terms in relation to such intellectual
property rights are included in the cooperation agreements between the
Group and its suppliers and business partners. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must also be signed between the Group and its suppliers and
business partners to protect the Group’s customer data and privacy.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress
on the Group. In addition, there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in
the Year.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such as
bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. The Group believes that its
employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained a strong
ethical conduct during regular business.

Information on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
are included in the employee handbook of the Group and was distributed
to all employees to follow. Besides, during every tendering process, an
Integrity Agreement must be signed by both the Group and the suppliers
or business partners. The Group has ensured that all relevant parties will act
in accordance with its requirements on anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations including but not limited to the (i) Law of the People’s
Republic of China Against Unfair Competition ({/F Z A R £ E & T~ 1E
B #F%)); and (ii) Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Hong Kong) (B 1E
86 B% 15 6] ) (& 7). There was no litigation case regarding corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering was noted.

Community Investment

The Group values community contributions and always seeks to be a
positive force in the communities in which it operates and maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in order to
contribute to local development from time to time. In addition, the Group
always encourages its employees to participate in volunteer works aiming
to help and support the local communities and neighbours.

During the reporting period, CITIC Cyber Security was selected by J#& 31T
EFHREREEHEEZSEMER E%3) as one of the authorised
enterprises as a financial technology young talent development base to
provide internship program for young people to promote youth
development.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi ( £ B3 55 4 ) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 40, was appointed as
an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015 and 1 August 2017 respectively, and a director of nine subsidiaries
within the Group. He has been a business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co, Ltd* (& M B8 1§ 5 B B £ B BR 22 7)), an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He has over 15 years of working
experience in the telecommunications industry in China. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Wang was the deputy general manager of Hua Strong Network
Science and Technology Limited Company* (2 X ## EHZ AR A A)) and
Beijing Huagin World Technology Limited Company* (1 5 2 £ K it Bl
BBR /2 7]), both of which are indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000
to 2014. Mr. Wang resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained
a bachelor degree from Beijing University of Technology (1t ;X T % K2 in
Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang
is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang Xiaogi does not have any
interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not
hold any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold
any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. Ho Yeung (i ¥ % %) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 64, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017.
Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior executive at a leading high-tech
software company in China and has held the post of executive director of a
renowned real estate company in China for more than ten years. Since
1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of members of the council at the
China Association for the Promotion of Investment. Mr. Ho was an
independent non-executive director of China Gas Holdings Limited (stock
code: 384), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), from 12 December 2012 to 27 November 2017.
As at the date of this report, Mr. Ho is interested in 18,083,500 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 1.333% of the total
number of ordinary shares in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Ho does not have any interest in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any position in the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (3 ¥ £ 4 ) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 49, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and was re-
elected on 23 June 2014 and 1 August 2017 respectively. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree with honors in Finance and Accounting from
University of Salford, United Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of
Business Administration from Richard Ivey School of Business, The
University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a member of each of
lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society, American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange, Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of The Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom and Hong Kong
Institute of Certificate Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 18 years of
experience in corporate finance and accounting and has worked for several
international accounting firms, investment banks and the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of corporate finance department in
Essence Corporate Finance (Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal
under the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a non-executive director of China
Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30 April
2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-executive director of Millennium Pacific Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July 2017.
Mr. Tse is a responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1
(dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities. Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse
does not hold any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#1235 5 4 ) (“Mr. Lau”), age 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 3 August 2017. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in Management from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Management
Association), a certificate programme on writing precisely what you mean
from the Hong Kong Management Association, a certificate of Practice in
Chinese Property Laws —a distance learning certificate programme from
the Hong Kong Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng
Bank group (stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years
from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various
departments including retail banking, loans department, credit control and
administration. Also, he was a department head monitoring the central
cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Lau does not hold any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with
any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (EZE %4 ) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 66, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong
graduated from Columbia Radlio Institute (2 #f bt 28 & 42 & T 12 B2 1%)
majoring in radio engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working for
Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group Ltd. (ZZ FHi&# A IR A 1) (formerly
known as Ryoden Electric Engineering Co, Ltd. (ZE T2 HGR A 7)) from
1970 to 2010. He has been responsible for the company’s China business
since 1983. He was the key responsible person for its subsidiary established
in China, his last position was a supervisor of the executive department and
was mainly responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong is currently a
director of Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co,, Ltd* (8874 (28 B) T2 AR A 7))
and an executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and Electrical
Equipment Engineering Co, Ltd* ORI = FI#E L& TIEER A7),
both are agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli Electrics
Company* (% 1 T = F| & 2% /2 A)). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong
does not hold any position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last
three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

The Directors submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group focused to strengthen its
business development in the area of trading of high-tech software and
hardware equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to
provide mobile payment services and value-added services; and setting up
joint ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure
mobile application services, among others. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the year
under review is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 18 of this
Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’' Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page /1.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 63. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 75 and note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
with all related laws and regulations in all material aspects which may have
significant impact on the operation of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue from time to time. The
purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Company or its subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption
by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Ho Yeung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Ms. Chan Nga Man (Resigned on 3 April 2018)
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018)
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

Ms. Chan Nga Man (“Ms. Chan") resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 3 April 2018 due to her wish to devote
more time on her other personal endeavours. Ms. Chan has confirmed that
she does not have any disagreement with the Board and that there is no
matter relating to her resignation which needs to be brought to the
attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to Articles 84 (1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Ho Yeung and Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY'’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang Xiaoqji is also a
director of the Company's subsidiaries. Other director of the Company’s
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report was as follows:

Mr. Li Kwan Shing

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2019, (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2017, (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term of
three years commencing from 3 April 2018, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently do not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 51 to 53.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to their relevant qualifications, experience and
duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 2
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provisions.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin,
Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or a connected entity of the
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaoqji is interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung is interested
in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, none of the other Directors or their respective associates
and the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards of dealing by directors of
the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, so far as the Directors are aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/or
were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of

any other members of the Group:

?ﬁgﬁﬁiﬁéﬂiﬁﬁiﬁ Rz ERm K

RoE-NEZA=+—H BEEELERE
BWEFAE - TIALRAR ARG IAERE
h A 2 D FR IR 5 R AR % 336 (VB B
2 BEMARSZ BB R REE R
B M A R R FTAE L R T AR B Rty
MEATZBRAR HREZ BHTRASHHMN
A

Approximate

percentage of
Number of issued share
issued ordinary capital as at
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held 31 March 2019
R-ZE-1%F
=A=+-—H
e #1T HEBITRAE
RRARBHE 27 EERHE BMABD
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Miat2) (Kt 3)
Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On") (Note 1) Beneficial owner
Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On ) (fiizE1)  EXH#EA 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan”) (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation
RERad (TREED (M) REEEER 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
Notes: B

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held by Happy

On.
2. “L" means long positions in the shares.
3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2019.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the largest and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 49% and 75% of the
Group's total purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for approximately 44% and 98% of the
Group’s total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
financial period under review and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, there was or is
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or of its associated
company (made by the Company).
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 11 November 2016 in
accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non- executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 19 to 38 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

For the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as
auditors of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the
Company for approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 14 June 2019
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Summary Financial Information
BT & P &

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ~ AEEBERAMREE 2 O AMEEAREE -
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as B &R IFIEREZ (a8 K EXMBERER) 28

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: ZT
FINANCIAL SUMMARY MBEREE
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE_ZE-NWF=ZA=+—HILFE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hE ZE-NF E—tF ZT—RX —E—hF
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET
RESULTS E45
Revenue W25 12,256 17,258 28,561 316,706 163,853
Loss before income tax % P15 H: Bl E 18 (32,440) (12,703) (67,033) (1,558) (1,500)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fri§H: (Fisx) % (229) 431 (251) (3,482) (686)
Loss for the year from FANBFELE
continuing operations IR EL BB (32,669) (12,272) (67,284) (5,040) (2,186)
Discontinued operations, 4% M 484 275 -
net of tax Priiiz - - 773 (965) -
Loss for the year FREE (32,669) (12,272) (66,511) (6,005) (2,186)
Attributable to: AT A
Owners of the Company RATHEAA (21,136) (8,519) (39,606) (4,253) (2,819)
Non-controlling interests IR (11,533) (3,753) (26,905) (1,752) 633
(32,669) (12,272) (66,511) (6,005) (2,186)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BER AR
Total assets BEE 112,611 192,073 193,633 398,345 453,708
Total liabilities BeE (88,036) (141,576) (133,023) (267,556) (313,043)
24,575 50,497 60,610 130,789 140,665
Attributable to: AT A&
Owners of the Company ViNINEIEFE N 41,255 64,654 69,699 112,629 119,864
Non-controlling interests  FF3EA%#EE2S (16,680) (14,157) (9,089) 18,160 20,801
24,575 50,497 60,610 130,789 140,665

EFRRAERAT / “T-NFERE 63



Independent Auditor’s Report
P ZBENRE =

To the shareholders of Quantum Thinking Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 71 to 152, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in
the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2R E =

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
acquired the entire interests in a subsidiary, Shenzhen Quantum
Technology Information Co., Ltd. ("Shenzhen Quantum’) during the year
ended 31 March 2019. Shenzhen Quantum has a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. ("CITIC
Cyber Security’). Before the acquisition, Shenzhen Quantum has entered
into an investment agreement containing certain profit guarantee
arrangement with the non-controlling shareholder of CITIC Cyber Security.
The Directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast of CITIC
Cyber Security and concluded that the fair value of the liability arising from
profit guarantee as at acquisition date and 31 March 2019 are insignificant
and hence no liability has been provided as at acquisition date and 31
March 2019. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to evaluate the reasonableness of the assumptions adopted by
the Directors of the Company in estimating the expected timing and
amounts of future cash flows generated by CITIC Cyber Security. Therefore
we are unable to reach a conclusion as to whether the liability arising from
profit guarantee as at the acquisition date and at 31 March 2019 and the
resulting bargain purchase gain of HK$7,488,000 for the year ended 31
March 2019 have been appropriately stated in the consolidated financial
statements. Any increase in the liability arising from profit guarantee would
affect the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and could also affect
the Group's loss for the year then ended. There were no other alternative
audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the fair
value of the liability arising from profit guarantee and the resulting bargain
purchase gain. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments to these amounts were necessary.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2R E =

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

REESEE
BAREFASREBERMNERHE  RREAX
MG BHRANBITRAEENEH  ELF
HRERMEFBEBGEVBHRRMEARRR
ETRER - AT EHEEFIHRREHEBNE
B

How the Key Audit Matter has addressed in our audit
ERNEFNAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition in respect of system development
and consultancy services

Refer to notes 2.15 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements
— Revenue and segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised revenue
in total of HK$12,256,000 from the sale of hardware products and
system development, consultancy, maintenance and other
services. Revenue of HKS$8,420,000 and HK$3,310,000 was
generated from the system development and consultancy
services, respectively.

The Group uses the cost-to-cost method to determine the
appropriate revenues to be recognised from rendering of system
development and consultancy services. The stage of completion
is measured by reference to the actual costs incurred up to the
reporting date as a percentage of total estimated costs of
completion or as contract progress confirmed and accepted by
the customers.

We identified the revenue recognition as a key audit matter due
to the significance in the degree of judgement on the stage of
completion of system development and consultancy service
contracts.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition of system
development and consultancy service contracts included:

(i) checked on a sample basis, to contracts, invoices, project
status reports and other relevant correspondences to
evaluate the reasonableness of management’s assessment
of budgeted total contract costs and actual costs incurred;

(i) selected contracts on a sample basis, to perform interview
with the project managers and assessed whether these
estimates showed any evidence of management bias;

(i)  sent direct confirmations on a sample basis, to the
subcontractors to confirm the contract progresses, actual
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period and
assessed whether the information obtained is consistent
with management's estimation;

(iv)  obtained confirmation from the customers to confirm the
contract progress; and

(v)  reviewed and recalculated actual cost incurred and
compared to the budgeted cost.
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Key Audit Matter
RAREEE

How the Key Audit Matter has addressed in our audit
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2019 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we are unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the fair value of the liability arising from the
profit guarantee and the resulting bargain purchase gain. Accordingly, we
are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is materially
misstated with respect to this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B S =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

14 June 2019

Shaw Chi Kit
Practising Certificate No.: P04834
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Z =3 N/
/\\/T\ 5/\

K E A2 iR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZ_-%

—NE=ZA=t—RALFE

2019 2018
—E-NF — N\
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FTET FAET
Revenue W= 5 12,256 17,258
Cost of sales and services HE MRS A (8,472) (10,628)
Gross profit EF 3,784 6,630
Other income H A 6 9,619 5,287
Distribution costs 25 58 Ak 2N (6,590) (4,579)
Administrative expenses THAX (39,253) (20,041)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIESE 7 (32,440) (12,703)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisf (AX) & (229) 431
Loss for the year FREE (32,669) (12,272)
Loss for the year attributable to: RTATEEFRER :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N (21,136) (8,519)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR R = (11,533) (3,753)
(32,669) (12,272)
Loss per share attributable to the AAREEAELEESRER
owners of the Company
Basic (HK cents) B (L) 10 (1.56) (063)
Diluted (HK cents) #5F (#814) 10 (1.56) (0.63)
Loss for the year FREE (32,669) (12,272)
Other comprehensive expense Htt2mEEX
Exchange differences arising on HEREMmHEBm 2 RE
translation of foreign operations INETFEE ZEH ZRE
that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss (1,538) 2,159
Other comprehensive expense FREMEZERM: (HRHHIE)
for the year, net of tax (1,538) 2,159
Total comprehensive expense FRETEBAZHERE
for the year (34,207) (10,113)
Total comprehensive expense DTATELGFAZAEBMEAEE:
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N (23,399) (5,142)
Non-controlling interests IR AR = (10,808) (4,971)
(34,207) (10,113)
The notes on page 76 to 152 are an integral part of these consolidated #E76 152 B 2 iR L S G5B RE 2 H
financial statements. FRER o
ETFRHEERRQT / ZE—NFERE 71




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fre MR

Asat31March2019 RZZE—HAE=A=+—H

2019 2018
“E-hEF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HKS' 000
B aE FET FHT
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKEE 12 5,723 987
Intangible assets ELEE 13 54 393
Prepayment of leasehold improvement AR EYEREFIA 279 1,267
6,056 2,647
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 15 - -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H U RIA 16 5,338 46,208
Financial assets designated at EERATFEABRZ
fair value through profit or loss TREE 17 49,204 24,365
Cash and cash equivalents HehkIReEEY 18 51,278 76,790
Restricted cash XEHIRE 735 42,063
106,555 189,426
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables H 5 N E A ER IR 19 87,542 141,054
Tax payable FERIHHIR 494 522
88,036 141,576
Net current assets REBEERE 18,519 47,850
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBAERS 24,575 50,497
Net assets EEFE 24,575 50,497
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the AAREE AELER
owners of the Company
Share capital & As 20 135,625 135,625
Reserves & 23 (94,370) (70971)
41,255 064,654
Non-controlling interests RS (16,680) (14,157)
Total equity ERBE 24,575 50,497
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
-3 LIp=S
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on page 76 to 152 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mARETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS' 000
FET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEEFH2HERE
Loss before income tax BRETS BTG E (32,440) (12,703)
Adjustments for; KBTS EIERE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BB NEREITE 2,000 1,152
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EE 13 1
Loss on written off of intangible assets | EEMIRNEE 326 -
Loss on written off of property, Y - BRE KRR B
plant and equipment 452 375
Bank interest income HRITREHA (323) (153)
Investment income from financial assets REEERAFERFABRZ
designated at fair value through SRMEECIRERA
profit or loss (1,532) (1,739
Impairment loss on other receivables Hoh e YR IE 2 BB B A 831 850
Written back of other payables Ho b < FR0E 2 B (o) (85) -
Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables  E i fE Y F0IB 2 S5l B9 18 (O] - (1,533)
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE 5 3kIE 2 BB B E 1,684 3,261
Reversal of write-down of inventories 15 & R HE Bl - (1,403)
Gain on bargain purchase EBWE WS (7,488) -
Operating loss before working capital changes LEECEBR C EERE (36,562) (11,892)
Decrease in inventories FERD - 1,403
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 N H th FE YRR IE R > 4,148 6,429
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets BERAFEFABRZ
designated at fair value through eREEGEMm, R
profit or loss (24,528) 19,455
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R Fo A JE S SRIE R (44,464) (4,524)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations SRR (BR) B zEe (101,406) 10,871
Investment income from financial assets KEEEEAFEGT ABRZ
designated at fair value through SHMEEIRAERA
profit or loss 1,532 1,739
Income tax paid EFTSH (223) (497)
Income tax refund R[OS = 30
Net cash (used in)/generated from KRB (B ) e BT FEE
operating activities (100,097) 12,143
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
/\‘/ N Eﬁi;ﬁ%%

Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E =T —NF=A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
Note —E-NEF —T-)\F
B E HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FAET
Cash flows from investing activities REREETBHZ2HEHRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & E Y% - WE MR E (3,285) -
Interest received from bank EUERTTH B 323 153
Prepayment of leasehold improvement AR EEMFERIERIR (360) (1,196)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZRRIDE A (L) 38,642 (39,693)
Repayment from/(Advances to) third parties BB =1, (FREFE=H
ZEFR) ZIEK 15,587 (31,331)
Acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum W REYIE T 26 29,242 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEFE(BFH)Z
investing activities R FEE 80,149 (72,067)
Net decrease in cash and REeRBESEEMRIDF
cash equivalents (19,948) (59,924)
Cash and cash equivalents at REVz R RIBESEEY
beginning of year 76,790 129,822
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes,  [EXRSEEIFIHE & 7 22
on cash held (5,564) 6,892
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, REREHERRITEER
represented by cash at banks and BEReZHER
in hand ReZLEY 18 51,278 76,790

The notes on page 76 to 152 are an integral part of these consolidated #E76 152 B 2 iR L S G5B RE 2 H
financial statements. RE D
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A JE 25 1

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE=F

/\\/ \

P

—NE=ZA=t—RALFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RARHEEAEE
Non-
Share Share Warrant  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
AREE FER
BRx  ROOEE W RERE  RER @t BE  ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TERL THT TER TERL THT TAR
Asat 1 April 2017 RZB—tFHA-A 135625 99,935 900 (5,707) (161,060) 69,699 (9,089) 60610
Comprehensive expense 2EMR
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (8519) (8519) (3753) (12272)
Other comprehensiveexpense  Efi2HBX
Exchange differences arising on BERINEBES L
translation of foreign operations EAZER - - - 3377 - 3377 (1218) 2159
Total comprehensiveexpense ~ FRZAEMREE
for the year - - - 3377 8519 (5142 (4.971) (10,113)
Transaction with owners ﬁiﬁﬁ AZREG
Deemed disposal of the partial RIENERKBAA
investment n a subsidiary, MR ERBIRE
Shenzhen Anxin (note 14) (PizE ) - - - - (266) (266) 266 -
Acquisition of additional investment  KEEIAMTB A A FYIZ 54
in a subsidiary, Shenzhen Anxin %E?\‘&ﬁ(W&M)
(note 14) - - - - 363 363 (363) -
Release upon expiry of warrants RRIRKER B B 0
(note 20) (Ftz£20) - - (%00) - 900 - - -
Total transaction with owners ~ EEHAZRZHHE - - (%00) - 997 97 97 -
Asat 31 March 2018 and RZZ-\§=A=1-H
T April 2018 k=2-\EmA-A 135,625 99,935 - (2,324) (168,582) 64,654 (14,157) 50,497
Comprehensive expense 2EBR
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (21,136) (21,136) (11,533) (32,669)
Other comprehensiveexpense B2 HBX
Exchange differences arising on BERINEBESEL
translation of foreign operations EiEE = - - (2,263) - (2,263) 725 (1,538)
Total comprehensiveexpense A2 A TEE
for the year - - - (2,263) (21,136) (23,399) (10,808) (34,207)
Transaction with owners BEEAZRS
Acquisition of subsidlaries (note 26) Yt H1E 22 ) (7% 26) - - - - - = 8,285 8,285
Total transaction with owners BREEAZRFAH - - - - - - 8,285 8,285
Asat31March2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H 135,625 99,935 - (4,587) (189,718) 41,255 (16,680) 24,575
The notes on page 76 to 152 are an integral part of these consolidated #E76 152 B 2 iR L S G5B RE 2 H
financial statements. FED o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 8 May 2000 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
Company’s registered office is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company’s principal place of business is situated at Unit 1201-5,
China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of system development services and other
value-added technical consultation services and hardware-related
business. The Group has also expanded into the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC" or “China”) market in the areas of manufacturing of
ancillary high-tech software and hardware products; developing and
establishing integrated online platforms for distribution of mobile
products and provision of value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure
mobile application services, among other things.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the parent and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"), which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
unit of Hong Kong dollars ("HK$'000") unless otherwise stated,
these consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 were approved for issue by the Board on 14 June 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA”") and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
"GEM Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss which are stated
at fair values. The measurement basis is fully described in the
accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statement, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

Subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported
in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. The Group
applies the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets to account for all its acquisitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.2

ICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
the equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss
is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss
on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or ajoint venture.

In the Company's statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment losses unless the
subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost
is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes
direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company's profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.3

80 Quant

ICIES (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase
gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24

Business combinations (Continued)

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit
or loss when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (HKS), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the
exchange rates at the transaction date).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group's presentation currency,
have been converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and
liabilities have been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses have
been converted into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over the
reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the translation reserve
in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation
attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any
exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part
of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and

research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Capitalised development costs
Trademark

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost

less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are

tested for impairment as described below in note 2.16.

Over the lease term
20-50%
20-25%

5 years
10 years
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.6

84 Quant

ICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities
(Continued)

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are recognised as intangible assets
provided they meet the following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can
be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above
recognition criteria are recognised as intangible assets. They
are subject to the same subsequent measurement method as
acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESTHEBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial assets

27 TREE

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all of the
Group's financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

debt investments to be measured at amortised cost;
and

FVTPL.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows of the financial assets.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within other income
or administrative expenses, except for expected credit losses
("ECL") of trade receivables which is presented within
administrative expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.7

86 Quant

ICIES (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments to be measured at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as
FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in other income in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, trade and other receivables fall into this category of
financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than "hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1 April 2018

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
evidence exists, impairment loss is determined and recognised
based on the classification of the financial asset.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate and transaction cost.

2.

TESTERBE (&)

Fzg—)\ﬁﬁ—ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁl%
ZXE.Zimﬂééﬂ*ﬁﬁjﬁ X B
RBELREAHEAABRZEREE
E.EEEA%)]*/FEEW RETHSHEE
2R pREITEATBAREREE
ZWRERE - WREFA REERIRE

BEREAYEMFNEEEDLE -

ESREENRERASEKRRT
BEANBRX—7BT THRR - RER
TABAZEREENRZ AER -
TREENTSEAREZ QA FEMNE
BERIEXHRAE (HALIFRAF
B ABZZIRE) °

ERMEERNBRBEEIRERECE
FfE e B 88 8 DA I B 1 2 4B K EB
R\ N [0 3R B B i R AR | F TR o

REREAH eHEREELETR
A AREEEAEREFERERRE -
i B IR EMZFER - HEERERS
BYETHEE 2 HEERMERSE -

B R EWNIE

B R EWFIE A EE LA EE
NHREE  UWRASEERMISRE
ZIHTTESMEE - BRRERGIAE
HE BB A AR EHEKARET
REBETE - BHKARTIEBEW
B2 AR RIRE LT R ERFIX
RZGERAEKE Dz BRFTE °

FERUEARLAT /| —E—hEERE 87



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “"ECL model”. Instruments
within the scope included trade receivables and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not measured at

FVTPL.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of

the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is

made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or

that have low credit risk (“Stage 1") and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose

credit risk is not low ("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while

“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of

the financial instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since
initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date
with the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,

the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low
risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the

borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre BRI AL

Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E T —NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables
and other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set
out in note 28.2.

Policy applicable before 1 April 2018

At each reporting date, financial assets other than financial
assets through profit or loss are reviewed to determine
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about one or more of the following loss events:

—  Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

—  Abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

— It becomes probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— Significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor;

—  The disappearance of an active market for that financial
assets because of financial difficulties; and

—  Assignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

TESTERBE (&)

28 TEIEEZHE(E)

Policy applicable before 1 April 2018 (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial
assets. Such observable data includes but not limited to
adverse changes in the payment status of debtors in the
group and, national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans
and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in
profit or loss of the period in which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the
extent that it does not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the
impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Impairment losses on financial assets other than trade and
other receivables that are stated at amortised cost are written
off against the corresponding assets directly. Where the
recovery of trade and other receivables is considered doubtful
but not remote, the impairment losses for doubtful receivables
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery of trade and other receivables is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade and other receivables directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account in respect of that receivable are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first in first out basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated cost of completion and
applicable selling expenses.

The Group reviews the condition of inventories at each
reporting date, and make allowance for inventories that
identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable.
The Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by-
product basis and makes allowances by reference to the latest
market prices and current market conditions.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.11 Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables. They are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
interest related charges are recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2.18).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of

transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that

the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or

assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or

a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on

an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is

regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of

a lease.

(i)

(ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight line
basis over the lease terms except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the time pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.13

2.14

ICIES (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued, after deducting any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) to
the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to
the equity transaction.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of hardware products
and contracts for the system development, consultancy and
maintenance services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. Identifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4, Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a
contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sale of hardware products

Revenue from the sale of hardware products for a fixed
fee is recognised when (or as) the Group transfers
control of the assets to the customer.

For stand-alone sales of goods that are neither
customised by the Group nor subject to significant
integration services, control transfers at the point in
time when the goods are delivered to customers and
title has been passed.

Revenue from system development and
consultancy services

Revenue from system development and consultancy
services are either customised or sold together with
significant integration services. The goods and services
represent a single combined performance obligation
over which control is considered to transfer over time.
This is because the combined product is unique to each
customer (has no alternative use) and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for the work completed
to date. Revenue for these performance obligations is
recognised over time as the customisation or
integration work is performed, using the cost-to-cost
method to estimate progress towards completion. As
costs are generally incurred uniformly as the work
progresses and are considered to be proportionate to
the entity’s performance, the cost-to-cost method
provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of goods
and services to the customer.

Revenue from maintenance service

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts
with its customers. Customers are required to pay in
advance and the relevant payment due dates are
specified in each contract. Revenue is recognised at a
point of time based on the maintenance service period.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.16

98 Quant

ICIES (Continued)
Impairment on non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
investments in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life or those not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are
impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less cost of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result,
some assets are tested individually for impairment and some
are tested at cash-generating unit level.

Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the
other assets in the cash generating unit, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.17

ICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485), for all of its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in the central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.18

2.19

100 Quant

ICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income
earned on the temporary investment of the specific
borrowings, for the acquisition, construction or production of
any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component
of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Company is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled
or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented net
if, and only if,

(@  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL
2.19

2.20

ICIES (Continued)
Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(M) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group's business
components and for their review of the performance of those
components. The business components in the internal
financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group's major product and service
lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

Hardware: Sales of telecommunication and enterprise
hardware products

Services: System development, consultancy and
maintenance service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment
transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a

party is considered to be related to the Group if:

A person, or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

0)

(i)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family or a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which
are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning

on 1 April 2018:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments
to HKFRS 2

Amendments
to HKFRS 4

Amendments
to HKFRS 1

Amendments
to HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 40

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and

the related Amendments

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the these new and
amended HKFRSs has no material impact on how the financial
performance and financial position for the current and prior periods

have been prepared and presented.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. It makes major changes to the previous guidance on
the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces
an "ECL model” for the impairment of financial assets.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

When adopting HKFRS 9, the Group has applied the standard
retrospectively to items that existed at 1 April 2018 in accordance
with the transition requirement and also applied transitional relief
and opted not to restate prior periods. Differences arising from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 in relation to classification, measurement, and
impairment are recognised in accumulated losses.

For trade and other receivables, restricted cash and cash and cash
equivalents are previously classified as loans and receivables under
HKAS 39, now classified at financial assets measured at amortised
cost under HKFRS 9.

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the ECL
model. The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit
risk associated with a financial asset and therefore recognises ECL
earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including trade and other receivables and
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents).

The Group applies a simplified approach of recognising lifetime ECL
for trade receivables. For other financial assets measured at
amortised cost, the Group applies a general approach of recognising
ECL.

The Group has concluded that the impact of ECL on financial assets
is insignificant as at 1 April 2018 and therefore no adjustment was
recorded to opening equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E T —NF=A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and the related
“Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(hereinafter referred to as "HKFRS 15") replace HKAS 18 “Revenue’,
HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, and several revenue-related
Interpretations.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect transition
method, with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April
2018. Therefore, comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKASs 11 and 18

Summary of nature and effect of the changes on previous
accounting policies are set out below:

i. Timing of revenue recognition

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or service in the
contract. This may be at a single point in time or over time.
HKFRS 15 identifies the following three situations in which
control of the promised good or service is regarded as being
transferred over time:

(@) When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(b)  When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(©  When the entity's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has
an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into
any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the Group
recognises revenue for the sale of that good or service at a
single point in time, being when control has passed. Transfer
of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that is considered in determining when the transfer of control
occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant impact on
when the Group recognises revenue.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published
but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the
Group.

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Leases'

Insurance Contracts?

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Venture'

Definition of a Business®

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle!

HK(IFRIC) -

Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective date not yet determined

[ P

Effective for business combination and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period
beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new and amended HKFRSs that are expected to have
impact on the Group's accounting policies is provided below. Other
new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaced HKAS 17 and three related
Interpretations.

As disclosed in note 2.12, currently the Group classifies leases into
finance leases and operating leases and accounts for the lease
arrangements differently, depending on the classification of the
lease. The Group enters into leases as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a
similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease, the lessee will recognise and
measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum future
lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee
would recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use
asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease
term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is
12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which case
the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group's accounting as a lessee of
leases of rented premises which are currently classified as operating
leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected to
lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the
timing of the expense recognition in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group plans to use the
practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are, or contain, leases. The Group will
therefore apply the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to
contracts that are entered into on or after the date of initial
application.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective approach
for the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019. Comparative information
will not be restated. In addition, the Group plans to elect the practical
expedient for not applying the new accounting model to short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets and not to perform a full review
of existing leases and apply HKFRS 16 only to new contracts.
Furthermore, the Group plans to use the practical expedient to
account for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application as short-term lease. As disclosed
in note 25, as at 31 March 2019, the Group's future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to
HK$9,992,000 for rented premises, the majority of which is payable
either between 1 to 5 years.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group plans to measure
the rights-of-use as if HKFRS 16 had always been applied by using
the incremental borrowing rate at initial application date and the
opening balances of lease liabilities and the corresponding right-of-
use assets will be adjusted accordingly, after taking account the
effects of discounting, as at 1 April 2019.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets,
the Group expects that the transition adjustments to be made upon
the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material. However, the
expected changes in accounting policies as described above could
have a material impact on the Group’'s financial statement from 2019
onwards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE=ZF—

NE=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any
point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on the days past due.

For other receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance for
other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of trade and other receivables
(Continued)

For 2018, the Group’s management estimates the provision of
impairment of trade and other receivables (note 16) by assessing
their recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade and other
receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible and require the use of estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact carrying value of trade and other receivables
and impairment charge in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

As at 31 March 2019, provision for impairment in respect of trade
receivables and other receivables are HK$7,415,000 (2018:
HK$6,124,000) and HK$4,206,000 (2018: HK$3,559,000), respectively.

Allowance for inventories

The Group's management reviews the condition of inventories (note
15) based on their experience and knowledge at each reporting
date, and makes allowance for inventories that are identified as
obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable or suitable for use in
production. The Group carries out the inventory review on a
product-by-product basis and makes allowances by reference to the
latest market prices and current market conditions. As at 31 March
2019, allowance for inventories is HK$11,240,000 (2018:
HK$11,240,000).

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when the control over goods or
services is transferred to the customer. The Group estimates the
likelihood of the recoverability of the consideration, in particular for
those contracts with progress payments being long overdue or
delayed progress billings.

According to the accounting policy as stated in Note 2.15, the Group
uses the cost-to-cost method to determine the appropriate revenues
to be recognised from rendering of system development and
consultancy services. The stage of completion is measured by
reference to the actual costs incurred up to the reporting date as a
percentage of total estimated costs of completion based on
management experiences and estimation or as contract progress
confirmed and accepted by the customers. When the outcome of a
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it will be probably
recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@ERoEHER
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Revenue: I -
Hardware B 248 3,462
Services AR7&
— System development — R 8,420 10,846
— Consultancy — B 3,310 2,225
— Maintenance — (& 197 613
— Others — HAh 81 112
12,008 13,796
12,256 17,258

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive Directors that are used to make
operating decisions. Executive Directors are considered as the chief
operating decision makers (‘CODM").

The CODM review the Group's financial information from hardware
and services perspectives. The reportable segments are classified in a
manner consistent with the information reviewed by the CODM.

The CODM assess the performance of the operating segments based
on a measure of reportable segment profit/(loss). This measurement
basis excludes other income and unallocated expenses.

Segment assets mainly exclude assets that are managed on a
centralised basis. Segment liabilities mainly exclude liabilities that are
managed on a centralised basis.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the
countries in which customers are located, and non-current assets are
based on the countries where the assets are located.

BEECREBENTESMEMRMELREE
RRZBEBEEEEDT - ATESHRR
ITRREREE ([TEEERKRE]) -

TERERRENRM LR mEHAE
B2 MIEER - AR AR E B AR
RECEHZER B2 VETHE -

T2EERRERBRHRD M, (8
B)ZFEFEKENHRE - BHFEE
ETRBEMRARKRDBERFRX -

DHEETBEMBRETERZEE - HHA
BEEEMRETERECARG -

LEDHEEMS - HEDREBEEFAE
ZERE D - MIFRDEERBEEEME
ZBRE|D -

ETEHABERAR / —E—NFERSE 113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WRERDEER (&)
(Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows: HE-_ZT—NF=ZA=+—HLEFEZHH
RENT
Hardware Services Unallocated* Total
W R 7% ROBEL* et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TERT TERT
Revenue from external customers — #ANIEER P 1S 2 Wz 248 12,008 = 12,256
Reportable segment loss AEES HEE (62) (17,958) (24,039) (42,059)
Bank interest income RITHEHA 323
Other income =R N - 7,488 1,808 9,296
Loss before income tax BrPTISIEATE B (32,440)
Income tax expense (note 8) FS R (Fizks) (229)
Loss for the year FNEE (32,669)
Depreciation of property, mE - BMELEEE2ITE
plant and equipment 98 1,716 186 2,000
Amortisation of intangible assets  E JI2 & B 44 - - 13 13
Impairment loss on AT & IBRRESE
— trade receivables —ERESRIE 1,623 61 - 1,684
— other receivables — HibEW IR - - 831 831
Loss on written off of property, ME - BB KR
plant and equipment AR 2 58 - - 452 452
Gain on bargain purchase in HWEHB AR ZHEE
respect of the acquisition of W hg e as (PR 5T 26)
the subsidiaries (note 26) = (7,488) - (7,488)
* Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of * RO RER T EIEEEEREYYE Y LTS

rented premises and headquarter expenses and allowance expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoEER (&)
(Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows: BE-_ZT—\FZA=+—HItFEZ»E
RENT
Hardware Services  Unallocated* Total
e R 7% R~ WBEr
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHIT FHIT FHIT
Revenue from external customers  #9MNEF % = AT1S 2 Wiz 3,462 13,796 - 17,258
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A B3R 2B (518 ) % 7| (8211) 2,163 (11,942) (17,990)
Bank interest income RITHEHA 153
Other income HAn A 5,134
Loss before income tax FRFTISTRIEE (12,703)
Income tax credit (note 8) FriSfiE & (FTEs) 431
Loss for the year FRNEE (12,272)
Depreciation of property, W - B REEITE
plant and equipment 788 152 212 1,152
Amortisation of intangible assets B JIZ & EE#E 4 - - 1 1
Impairment loss on AT B IBR R EE 15
— trade receivables — RUWE ZHIE 3,261 - - 3,261
— other receivables — Hth e FIA 150 - 700 850
Reversal of impairment losson LA %78 8935 (8 518 % 0]
— other receivables — Hth e hm (1,533) - - (1,533)
— inventories —FE (1,403) - - (1,403)
Loss on written off of property, — ¥1% - &= MR
plant and equipment WK 2 518 375 - - 375

Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of

rented premises and headquarter expenses and allowance expenses.

AARFAX T ERERBEAYE L LETHER
X R AR BRI LA R BRI o
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E =T —NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WakoIER (&)
(Continued)
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: RIE—NWE=ZA=+—HZHHLEELEA
(ECRNE
Hardware Services Total
B4 I8 et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT TExT FET
Segment assets DEEE 357 2,230 2,587
Unallocated assets* IO EE 110,024
Total assets BEE 112,611
Segment liabilities HE AR 59,793 - 59,793
Unallocated liabilities* Ko BaE* 28,243
Total liabilities wmaRE 88,036

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

RIE-NF=ZA=+—RZHHEERE

BT :

Hardware Services Total

e PR 4t

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000

FHIT THIT FHT

Segment assets DEE E 1,759 6,788 8,547

Unallocated assets* RO EE 183,526

Total assets BEE 192,073

Segment liabilities HEaE 101,731 10,185 111,916

Unallocated liabilities* Aol aE* 29,660

Total liabilities wmaer 141,576
* Unallocated assets mainly include certain property, plant and equipment, certain * APREETERREETYE BEAERE &

other receivables, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss,
restricted cash, and cash and cash equivalents. Unallocated liabilities mainly
include certain other payables and accruals and tax payable.

THMBEYGRIA  BERATEAARE IS/
BE ZRHREUSRRENREEEY - A5
EREIZEEE TEMENRANRETER
K e TIA o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE=F

—NE=ZA=t—RALFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoEHER (E)
(Continued)
The revenue from external customers of the Group by geographical RNEE MR D EE D 2 K EINE R P S
segments is as follows: R
2019 2018
—E-NF —N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT
Revenue: Wz
PRC A 12,256 17,258
ZRZ(ZE-N\F  AR)INEEFPERMAS

Three (2018: Five) external customers contribute more than 10%
revenue of the Group. Revenues of approximately HK$11,142,000
(2018: HKS$17,146,000) are derived from these customers for the year
ended 31 March 2019. These revenues are attributable to hardware
segment and service segment.

As at 31 March 2019, accounts receivable from these external
customers accounted for nil (2018: 78%) of the Group’s total
accounts receivable.

An analysis of the non-current assets of the Group by geographical
segments is as follows:

B0 Lhsm- BE-FT-NF=A
ZT—BLEFE " 4111420008 T (==
—\4F : 17,1460008 70) < W KB ZE R
P ZE WA R B R AR D E6 o

RoB-AEZA=+—A  KERHNS
EF 2 R AR B R BT (=

T—)\&F :78%) °

REBEILHE D HPE D 2 IEREE E DTN
T

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAET
Non-current assets: RBEE :
Hong Kong BB 169 638
PRC M 5,887 2,009
6,056 2,647
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WRERDEER (&)
(Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFEHZWZHEE D
customers
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services AREERERBELNE —BRSERE RN
over time and at a point in time, details of the Group’s timing of REFREENZ  BEEAEEREBEZ-F
revenue recognition during the year ended 31 March 2019 were as —WFE=A=T—RHIEFEmRKR &M
follows: FIEWT
2019
ZE-NF
HK$’000
FTHER
Timing of revenue recognition R 2
Over time ¥ A 11,811
At a point of time RE—FREZ 445
Revenue from external customers REAMNBEP 2 W= 12,256
Transaction price allocated to performance obligation that are BERZZE—NF=-A=1T—HHREKD
unsatisfied as at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$1,098,000 which RZEBHNEF 2R 5E 10980007 T TEHA
are expected to be recognised within one to five years. BHR—ZERFA TR -
6. OTHERINCOME 6. HWA
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Interest income on short-term bank deposits %2 #$R 1715 Z 2 F B U A 323 153
Investment income from financial assets REBEAFEFAEBEZCREE
at fair value through profit or loss ZIEEWA 1,532 1,739
Reversal of write-down of inventories GFEMRER - 1,403
Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables £ #f & U 5018 7 i (B 5 18 & O - 1,533
Gain on bargain purchase in respect of FLUEBHTE A B 2 EE W W
the acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26) (FfF3E 26) 7,488 -
Others Hith 276 459
9,619 5,287
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRFTSHATEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): B SR BIER T BB, (Gt A) :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Auditor's remuneration % B 3 B 492 414
Cost of inventories sold EHEFTERA 225 1,806
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% « = MRIEZITE 2,000 1,152
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH 13 1
Employee benefit expense (note 11) EERMAZ (MFE11) 16,609 8430
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss bE X (Was) BB F R (138) 509
Operating lease charges in respect of MAMEZEEHERS
rental premises 4,983 370
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEW B 5318 2 RIEE 1,684 3,261
Impairment loss on other receivables Hithpe s 2 REBE 831 850
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 & MR el = (1,403)
Reversal of impairment loss on H th fE W RIB R B E5 1B
other receivables = (1,533)
Loss on written off of property, VI R R EREMRE 2 BB
plant and equipment 452 375
Loss on written off of intangible assets B EEMEBE 326 -
Gain on bargain purchase in respect of FUEH B A B 2 R BB S
the acquisition of subsidiaries (note 26) (P 5T 26) (7,488) -
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 8. F8HiBAx (E%)
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year AR EBESESHIEEE RN FELE
as the Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose (2018: Nil as MEBFERARBEBE(ZE—NF &
the Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose). The PRC BRANEESRERIEEE) - FREHF
enterprise income tax has been provided for at the rate of 25% (2018: 1 3 P15 B0 30 4 51 B AR B R 1 HE 250% (=
25%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. ZT— \GF @ 25%) i -
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
PRC enterprise income tax FEIRERBH
Current year KEE 50 538
Under/(over)-provision in prior year BAFEBETR(BEREE) 179 (969)
Income tax expense/(credit) FigsiEx (ER) 229 (437)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE=F

8.

—NE=ZA=t—RALFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 8.

FrigBipi(HER) (&)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at WMERRRAEZFMEHRAS et EEY
the applicable tax rate is as follows: BRaNT ¢
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FH&T
Loss before income tax FRETSTLRIEE (32,440) (12,703)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated BTSSR RIEIBTIRIE - IHEE

at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% FERIE165%

(2018: 16.5%) ZT—)\F 1 165%):TE (5,352) (2,096)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHIB A 2 & 2,531 1,192
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBRAZ R B2 (1,872) 7)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERHIBEE  HIETE 6,836 2,130
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &h R 8 1 Ak HE AT 18 &5 18 (116) (173)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years L{Iif%{%ﬂ_i/(h%ﬁ%ﬁ) 179 (969)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMRIEAEREE L

operating in other jurisdictions WEAREB TR E 2 /& (1,977) (508)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frigsifs (%) 229 (431)

9. DIVIDENDS 9. KA
The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final EFEUTERBENBE-ZS—NF=A
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil). ES+-RIEFEZRARB(ZZE—NF:

10. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$21,136,000 (2018: HK$8,519,000) by the weighted average
number of 1,356,250,000 (2018: 1,356,250,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2019 equals to
the basic loss per share as the Group had no potential ordinary
shares in issue.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2018 equals to
the basic loss per share as the potential ordinary shares on exercise
of warrants were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per
share because they are anti-dilutive.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 1. EERIBAZ(BEEEMHNE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2019 2018
—B-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEMER 15,557 7,858
Pension costs — defined contribution schemes RIK £ B AN — FREMHE K ET 2] 1,052 572
16,609 8,430
11.1 Directors’ emoluments MNIAEEMS
The emoluments of each director, disclosed pursuant to the RIEGEM LR A « BB EGIE 6225
GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong EBNEMERIE 383N IE R BB EGIE
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and Part 2 of the Companies 622GERNRI(BEESHzEER) R
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) FoHMPE L ZEZHEeH M
Regulation (Cap.622G), are set out below:
Employer’s

Salaries, contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits contribution

Fee in kind schemes Total
e EExm
EER RN
we BYA &= SHEIHEM et
2019 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
—E-NEF TET TET TET FTExT
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Ho Yeung® A E© = 650 18 668
Mr. Wang Xiaogi® TEEF LA - 695 27 722
Independent Non-executive directors B FEHITEE
Ms. Chan Nga Man® PRS2 1 - - 1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MiEakt 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony WFEEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee® EREELEO 119 - - 119
420 1,345 45 1,810
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

N BEEEMNRAX(EEREENE)

(%)

11.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) MIABEFE (B
Notes Bt 5
(a) Ms. Chan Nga Man was appointed on 1 August 2017 and resigned on 3 @) BEHELTN —E—+E\ A —AEEF
April 2018. MR — ) \GFmA=HEHT -
(b) Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed on 3 April 2018. (b) BRELEN T/ \FHUAZHEZT -
(@] Emolument of the Directors were borne by the Company and its © REEAATIREMBATESHSN Y
subsidiaries for their services as director of the Company and its EEHS BAR TR EN B T AE
subsidiaries.
Employer's
Salaries,  contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  contribution
Fee in kind schemes Total
e BEm
AR TEFRMHR
e B TR it
2018 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
—E-N\F THET FHET FHET FET
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Ho Yeung®@© fA] 3 55 4 00 - 550 15 565
Mr. Lam Chi Man®'@ MRAE S A 00 - 346 13 359
Mr. Wang Xiaoqji@ TrEmEEo - 732 - 732
Independent Non-executive directors B FEHTTEE
Ms. Chan Nga Man® PRI L O 80 - - 80
Mr. Gao Ping mEEEO 40 - - 40
Mr. Lam Wing Keung® MRk B8 ST & © 82 - - 82
Mr. Lau Chor Kif WAL 110 - - 110
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony WFEFEE 120 - - 120
432 1,628 28 2,088
Notes B 5E
@) Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed on 1 June 2017. @ FEEEN _E—+F A —BEZE-
(b) Mr. Lam Chi Man resigned on 20 December 2017. (b) MEXEER -_E—+E+=-_A=+HE
fFo
(o) Ms. Chan Nga Man was appointed on 1 August 2017 and resigned on 3 © BHELTR _E—+FENA—BEZFE
April 2018. FERZZF— ) \FMHA=HEHIT -
(d) Mr. Gao Ping resigned on 31 July 2017. (d) SPEAER B+ ELA=+—RE(T -
(e) Mr. Lam Wing Keung resigned on 1 February 2018. (e) MokBEER-ZE—NF=-A—BHEHE -
16) Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed on 1 June 2017. 6] MRHFEEN -_E—+FE A —BERE-
(@) Emolument of the Directors were borne by the Company and its () HEERAATRERBARIESM M2

subsidiaries for their services as director of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

11.2Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include two (2018: three) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2018:

N EERGAHEZ(EREEHN )
(#&)
MNM2EBEEME AL
FR - AEBREEaME A LEE
MHE(ZE—N\F: ZR)EF ' #HE
ZWEER LA HTRRE - FRME
HFEB=2(ZZE—N\F:WEZ)A

two) individuals during the year are as follows: TZMEemT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind H4e - EZBIREWMRZE 2,643 1,138
Employer’s contributions to defined 1B E A E RE M FRET8I 50
contribution schemes 52 36
2,695 1174
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN FLATEE :
Number of individuals
A
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-)N\F
HKS BIT
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/5 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000 4 7T 1 -

During the year, no compensation was paid to the five highest
paid individuals as compensation for loss of office (2018: nil).
No emoluments was paid to the five highest paid individual as
inducement to join the Group (2018: nil).

RER TERARAESMEALX
NEEE ERBEEZBEE(ZZE-N
FE) AREYEARLESMHE
ALTXAMESERREMAREERZ
BR)(—F-N\F: &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y%  BMERRZE

Leasehold Plantand Furniture Office
improvements machinery and fixtures equipment Total
HENFEE L BRREE WARE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT TR TR
At1April 2017 R-E—tEMA—A
Cost 5% 3,548 1,080 660 577 5,865
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (2,088) (678) Q7 (445) (3482)
Net book amount EEEE 1,460 402 389 132 2383
Yearended 31 March2018 EHZ=-Z—-N\&E
ZA=t-HLHEE
Opening net bookamount ~ FHNBREFE 1460 402 389 132 2,383
Exchange differences ERER 94 3 30 4 131
Write-off i (329) - 0 (45) (375)
Depreciation nE (742) (178) (169) 63) (1,152)
Closing netbookamount  FAREFE 483 27 249 28 987
At 31 March 2018 and R=Z-NF
1 April 2018 ZA=Z+-HRK
“Z2-\§¥MmA—-H
Cost B AR 3457 1,088 712 264 5,521
Accumulated depreciation Z:inE (2974) (861) (463) (236) (4534)
Net book amount BRERE 483 27 249 28 987
Yearended 31 March2019 EZE-ZT—-h&E
ZAZT-HLEEE
Opening netbookamount ~ FAIEREFE 483 227 249 28 987
Acquisition of Shenzhen YER)IEF
Quantum 2,040 290 400 - 2,730
Exchange differences EREE (68) 3) (23) - (94)
Additions NE 4,283 208 7 54 4,552
Write-off R (452) - = - (452)
Depreciation neE (1,536) (239) (194) 31) (2,000)
Closing netbookamount ~ FABREFE 4,750 483 439 51 5,723
At 31 March 2019 R-E-h#&E
=A=t+-H
Cost AR 6,784 1,657 1,113 313 9,867
Accumulated depreciation ZiTE (2,034) (1,174) (674) (262) (4,144)
Net book amount BREFE 4,750 483 439 51 5,723
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. B EE
Development Trademark
costs® costs Total
BB A @ BER A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2017 R-ZE—tFWmA—H
Cost BN 387 10 397
Accumulated amortisation RETE I - 3) 3)
Net book amount BREEE 387 7 394
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z—N\&
ZA=+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 387 7 394
Amortisation 5 - (M (M
Closing net book amount FRIRMFE 387 6 393
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-NE
1 April 2018 =A=+—HE
—ZE-)\FWA—H
Cost B AR 387 10 397
Accumulated amortisation ZatiE Y - (4) )
Net book amount REFE 387 6 393
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-E-—NE
ZA=t-HLFE
Opening net book amount FYIREFAE 387 6 393
Amortisation b (12) (1) (13)
Write-off i BR (326) - (326)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 49 5 54
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE—hE=A=+—H
Cost AR 61 10 71
Accumulated amortisation Dty (12) (5) (17)
Net book amount REFE 49 5 54
Note BiaE
@ Development costs mainly include online network systems and video software @) FERAEZEREN LBREAGRZEEMGZH
development costs. There is a write-off of HK$326,000 recognised for the year RN o #IBR326000 B TERBE_T—NF=
ended 31 March 2019, since part of the online network systems and video A=+T—BIEFE®R - DHNEIHM EMER
software was obsolete without alternative use. No amortisation was provided as HRZEVHEBRRETEERAR - ARES
these intangible assets were not available for use as at 31 March 2018. T N\F=ZA=+—BZEEMEETAHE

A B R R S
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 are as

14. RB AT 2RE
M-E—N&E=A=+—0 TEWELT

follows: FEET
Place of Particulars of issued Principal activities,
Name of company incorporation and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  place of operation
DEER LA L 3t 2 ERTRBRRAFE BERSREAL TEFRREEBY
2019 2018
“E-RE ZE-N\F

Subsidiaries held directly:

BERBZNERA -

China 020 Business Group Co. Limited The British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong

('BVI')*
REO0OAXEEARAT RERUHE 1REE ET 2 ERR 100% 100% AEBREER
((RBELZEE])

Excellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Financing and provision for payroll
and administrative services for
group companies in Hong Kong

Excellent Master Investments Limited BE 1REER 100% 100% ARNEBEZEERARER
R HRITBRS

China Integrated Telecommunications BVI* 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong

Group Co. Limited

hERSBAEEERAT RERAHS TREE ET 2 Bk 100% 100% REBREER

YBDS Multimedia Company Limited BVI* 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Online network systems

development in Hong Kong

25 HBERAT HRELES IREEET2ERR  100% 0% HEBHLELBEES

Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong

EREXERAA B 1R ER 100% 100% REFREZR

Subsidiaries held indirectly:

R IE R -

Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong

FEMBARAR BE 1IRE R 100% 100% AEBREER

Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong

AIERRBRAF BE 1IRE R 100% 100% AEBREER

Guangzhou YBDSIT Co,, Ltd. PRC** RMB40,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of system development
services and other value-added
technical consultation services
and hardware-related business
inthe PRC

EMEEESHRERAF HE" ARH 40000000 70 100% 100% R ERERGRERS R
H B E R AR A R
RS

China Mobile Payment Technology Group BVI* 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding in PRC

Company Limited USS1 each
REXAREEEERAT EERUES EEBREEET 100% 100% RAERERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14. AIB AR ZIRE (&)

Place of Particulars of issued Principal activities,
Name of company incorporation and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  place of operation
AEER AL ALt 2 ERTRBZREAFE BERSREA L TEXBREXBE
2019 2018

—E-hE Z—F-N\F

Subsidiaries held indirectly: (Continued)
EE#FAZMELRA] ()

Hua Strong Network Science and Technology ~ PRC* USD8,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding in PRC and
Limited Company ("Hua Strong’) [T network consultation service
EXRBEMBRBERRR(EX]) B 80000007 90% 9% PP ERAER KA
REERRE
Beijing Huagin World Technology Limited PRC* RMB50,000,000 45.9% 459%  Trading of residential gateway
Company (‘Beijing Huagin") "™ products
EREHRBRBZERAF A" AR 50,000,000 70 45.9% 459% BEXTHEWED
(TxEg)) =
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security PRC RMB14,290,000 70% - Technical development and
Authentication Co, Ltd. software development of credible
("CITIC Cyber Security")** identity authentication services
related products in the PRC
RYFHERERBERAT HE AR 142900007 70% - RPEARHEFREREERD
(THfE@% ) R aHeE
Shenzhen Quantum Technology PRC RMB10,770,000%*** 100% - Investment holding in PRC
Information Co, Ltd***
AT EFREAEBRAR H AR 10,770,000 7T ¥4 100% - RPERERR
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co,, Ltd. PRC* RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of system development

services and other value-added
technical consultation services

in PRC
RTEBESRRERAR e AR 5000007 100% 100% R B {ERRRRRE L
Hi B ERITE R RS
* Limited liability company * BIRAT]
o Wholly foreign owned enterprise o INEEE R
e Newly acquired subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2019 o HE_Z-NEF=ZA=1+—HILFEHFRE MW
BAA
*%|ncluded registered capital of RMB7,270,000 not yet paid up woo ELEE IS AREUE M E AR AR 7,270,000 7T
Note:  Hua Strong holds 51% interest in Beijing Huagin and hence the Company holds M ERFAILRESS1%EZ - MEALAAREE
a 45.9% effective interest in Beijing Huagin. The board of directors of Beijing I REH5%ER S  LREHERFIA
Huagqin is controlled by the Company. Thus, Beijing Huaqin is the Company's NENES o At - EREH /KRR BB LT o
subsidiary.
The above table includes subsidiaries of the Company which, in the EERRLERFIN ZARAMBRARIEER
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year BFRNEEIERAEEEEFECEES
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. 7 e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14. AIB AR ZIRE (&)

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing TRINN BBt REH R EHEL (FAEE
Huagin and CITIC Cyber Security, the subsidiaries of the Group of A EREER R ([ FFERER ) 2B
which the Group has material non-controlling interest (“NCI"). The Na)Z2ER c U TIFY 2B BERBE A
summarised financial information presented below represents the EITER A RIEMEERT 2 £ %8 -

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Beijing Huaqin 2019 2018
—E-h1F —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FAET
NCI percentage SEERER A D 54.1% 54.1%
Non-current assets EMENEE 68 582
Current assets TENEE 34,205 84,691
Current liabilities mENAE (67,106) (107,890)
Net liabilities BEFHE (32,833) (22,617)
Carrying amount of NCI SRR AR BRE (B (17,763) (12,236)
Revenue Uz - 3,462
Loss for the year FANEIE (11,671) (7,207)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREMAX A% (10,216) (9,100)
Net loss for the year attributable to NC| FEVERR e FEAE T NS 18 F ] (6,314) (3,899)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year RS TFAEER B
attributed to NCl (5,527) (4,923)
Dividend paid to non controlling interest ST IR R 2 AR R - -
Net cash (used in)/generated from KESEE (B RS2 R4 %5
operating activities (40,841) 1,178
Net cash generated from investing activities KEEYMEZIRE F5 277 35,829
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

14. RMB AR 2RE (F)

CITIC Cyber Security PEHER 2019
—E-hEF

HK$'000

FET

NCI percentage IR ER A DL 30%
Non-current assets EMBEE 2,190
Current assets MENVEE 26,033
Current liabilities measE (18,826)
Net assets BEFER 9,397
Carrying amount of NCI R R AREE (2,819)
Revenue Wz 201
Loss for the year FAEE (17,549)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEAZLRE (18,222)
Net loss for the year attributable to NC| IR S PR (G F A B IR T 5 (5,265)

Total comprehensive expenses for the year R e IR 2 AR SF

attributed to NCI (5,466)
Dividend paid to non controlling interest ST IR RS 2 IS -
Net cash used in operating activities KESEEENR 2 IR HEEE (9,465)

Net cash from investing activities

Deemed disposal and acquisition of investment in
a subsidiary, Shenzhen Anxin

Pursuant to a Capital Increase Agreement, Dynamic Telecom Limited
("“Dynamic”) and CITIC Cyber Security agreed to subscribe for 40%
registered capital of RMB12,000,000 in Shenzhen Anxin Certification
System Co., Ltd ("Shenzhen Anxin"), a subsidiary of the Company.
The registration of new shareholders was completed in October
2017.

Up to 28 February 2018, Dynamic and CITIC Cyber Security did not
pay their respective subscribed registered capital. As of 28 February
2018, the Group entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with
Dynamic and CITIC Cyber Security to acquire their equity interests in
Shenzhen Anxin for a consideration of RMB1. The transaction and
registration of transfer of shareholding were completed in March
2018. The effect of deemed disposal of 40% equity interest and
subsequent acquisition of same 40% equity interest is immaterial to
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

KRERPELEZRESFH -

RIELHERWBRKE X RFRIIZ
FEHRE

B E W SHEENERAF([EH])
A ERLZERERBARA RN B AR
MZERBEZGAR AR (FEINRE]) M
B AR ARE 12,000,000 7T.2 40% © FHTIR 2 &
HER-Z—tF+ARK

BE-_Z—)\E_A-+N\8 #@KkPE
MW EBNEESAERBOEMER -
R-ZZE—N\FE-_A=-+/N\H AEEEFHH
A ERZIIVEE RS  UKBHEERF
INZEmiE REAARKE 1T  BEAR
SEREEEELZEON T N\FE=ZA%
B o fR1E B 40% AR 4 I 18 SR BE % 40% A%
EHAEBRAPBRERNFETTERX -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVENTORIES 15. &

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
T FHIT
Finished goods — residential gateway products 24k 5h — {E 48 B E 11,240 11,240

Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving FRE NS IETEEBE
inventories (11,240) (11,240)

Part of the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories of
HK$1,403,000 for prior year was reversed as there were some

HRETEEBHRERCRBE_T—\F
ZA=THLEFELRE  SCBEFENE

residential gateway products were sold during the year ended 31 7 BRE N $H 17 & 4 1,403,000 78 TT B 1R
March 2018. [@ -
16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. E5 R HALEUFIR
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables FEUE Z5kIE 287 8,154
Prepayments, deposits and TEI IR -~ iee REM
other receivables© ©© JEUFRIH @O © 5,051 38,054
5,338 46,208

Notes Bt 5

(a) Included in above balances as of 31 March 2019 is a provision for impairment of (a)
other receivables of HK$4,206,000 (2018: HK$3,559,000). During the year,
impairment loss of HK$831,000 (2018: HK$850,000) have been recognised, and
reversal of impairment loss in prior year of HKSnil (2018: HK$1,533,000) have
been recognised as part of the repayment amount impaired in prior years was

TR -E-NEZ AT ANEREIEEMD
JE LA 3R 7B L (B B 4 4,206,000 78 T (— T — )\ & -
3,559,000 7T) © A+ BRI E &8 831,00075
TL(ZZF—/\F : 8500008 7T) * & FHIREE
BREZTEIT(ZZ—)\F 153300048 7T) B #E

received during the year.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 was an amount due from a
third party — & Il 77 22 8 38 {5 A PR 22 &) of HK$8,278,000. Of amount due,
HK$5,848,000 was unsecured, interest bearing at 1% per annum and repayable
on demand and the remaining amount of HK$2,430,000 was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. Those amount was fully settled during

the year ended 31 March 2019.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 was an amount due from a
third party — R JII T & F BHE A BB R 2 7] of HK$18,742,000 which was
unsecured, interest bearing at 1% per annum and repayable on 31 March 2019.
On 4 July 2018, the Group acquired 70% equity interest of CITIC Cyber Security

and hence the amount was eliminated upon acquisition.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E T —NF=A=+—HILFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. B 5 Rk H At EWKE (&)
(Continued)
The credit period granted by the Group to its customers generally AEBREFEPZBREH RN TF0E
ranged from 0 to 120 days (2018: 0 to 120 days). At the reporting 120B(ZZ—N\F:0E120H) - RkEH
date, the ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of B - REEEWE SHIE (B EKRRIEBEZ
provision for impaired receivables) based on invoice date is as BERE) IZREZARRESTAT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
0-30 days 0&30H = 6,110
31-60 days 31260 H = -
61-90 days 61%290H - -
91-180 days 91£&180H 287 -
181-365 days 1812365 H = -
Over 365 days i@ 365 H - 2,044
287 8,154
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 IR EREZEEINT :
is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T FAET
Balance at the beginning of the year FH) ek (6,124) (2,408)
Provision for the year FRRE (1,684) (3,261)
Exchange realignment M % 393 (455)
Balances at the end of the year FIRER (7,415) (6,124)
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16.

17.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group has credit control procedures to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.
Customers’ historical credit loss experience and external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment were taken into account for the credit risk
assessment.

As at 31 March 2019, HK$1,684,000 of provision for impairment was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (2018: HK$3,261,000). The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

All'amounts are short term and hence the carrying values of the
Group’s trade and other receivables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair values. The Group did not hold any
collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the trade
and other receivables.

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16.

17.

B2 RHEMmEWRE (&)

AEEHEEEEERF  UBREEER
- EEEEHNEHNAREHR - (EHEER
R TE B P REEREBRER LI
IR URBEEBABEOANEERRR

RERIEITHE -

R-ZZE—NFZA=Z+—H BEHFEEZR
T2 A 2 T M 2 35 T AR (B 2 45 1,684,000 8
JTL(ZZ— )\ :3261,000/87C) - KEEP
RIBE BT EEEIBLCRH RINPIEIER L&
HEmE - WIREEB AR ENIEEERR

REBRIBEITRE -

FBETEARE At AEEZESRE
i EURIR 2 BRE ER R A A FHEZBELD
8o AEBEY EZFE D R A EKFIR
FrA TER R R B E IR ARG -

EEE’A${EE‘#AE§Z$E§§

2019 2018

—E-NF —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Wealth management products B Em 49,204 24,365

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had short term investments linked
wealth management products with banks of RMB42,080,000
(equivalent to HK$49,204,000) (2018: RMB19,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$24,365,000)).

Interest rates of the wealth management products vary depending
on the return rate of the relevant short term bonds, money market
investment fund and bank deposits.

Wealth management products are carried at fair value and their
dealing price is derived from net asset values of the investment funds
with reference to observable quoted price of underlying investment
portfolio in active markets and inputs other than quoted market price
for respective wealth management products (note 28.3).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. RERREEEY
2019 2018
—g-nE  —T-NE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Cash at banks and in hand RITHEFLFERES 51,278 76,790
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had bank balances and cash of R-ZZBE—HNE=A=+—H ' KEEUAER
approximately HK$24,225,000 (2018: HK$42,174,000) which were A EZIRITETE LIRS 45 24,22500078
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the TL(ZZT— )\ 1 4217400078 70 ) - 5 A
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the BeEHPRBESTPEBNFAEH S INES
PRC government. I FTRE &) o
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing RETHES 2B EHE
activities
The changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing RNATGIREEHELEZBEEHHBEHT -
activities are classified as follows:
Non-cash
As at changes — As at
1 April Financing exchange 31 March
2018 cash flow difference 2019
RZZE—\F BE  FREEH RE-NE
mA—H Reng —EXZEE =ZA=+-H
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$’'000
TET FEL TET TER
Other payables H A fERTE0R
— Advance from a director —RE—REEZBR 3,121 (2,922) (199) =
— Amount due to 3t RIn & (B2 — BRIt RIREEE
BERHRERDH BENBBRABRE 12,495 - (802) 11,693
15,616 (2922) (1,001) 11,693
Non-cash
As at changes — As at
1 April Financing exchange 31 March
2017 cash flow difference 2018
RZT—+F BmE  FReEH NZFT-N\EF
mA—H HAeneg —[EEEE —A=1+—8
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET FAT
Other payables H A fERTE0R
— Advance from a director —RE—REEZBR 2817 - 304 3,121
— Amount due to It FIn & B3 — Bt RIS EE
BEMBEARLA BERRBRARDAFIE 11,275 - 1,220 12,495
14,092 - 1524 15616
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. ES R EMENKIE

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TH T T

Trade payables e 8 5KIA 58,979 111,046
Other payables and accruals @ ®© @ HiEMFIENEBRO0OO 28,563 30,008
87,542 141,054

Notes

(@)

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 was the amount of
HK$3,121,000 due to Mr. Ho Yeung, a director of the Company. The amount due
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amount due is settled
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2019 is the amount of
HK$194,000 (2018: HK$194,000) due to Mr. Chan Foo Wing, the ultimate
beneficial owner of the Company. The amount due is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2019 is the amount of
HK$11,693,000 (2018: HK$12,495,000) due to a third party, 1t 52 3 55 18 3 48 4%
B A R A & The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Included in the above balance as at 31 March 2019 is the amount of
HK$2,295,000 mainly due to the several litigations with former employees of the
subsidiary, Beijing Huagin for the termination of the employment.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, all trade and other payables are short
term and hence the carrying values of the Group's trade and other
payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair

value.

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods ranging from
30-180 days. Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the

G

(@)

A —
N
)\_

TR - NEFE=Z A=+ ANESREIERR
NN A E B AAF ST E R FRIE 3,121,000 T © % FE
NREAEIEF - 2B RBRERIEEE - ZE
NHRERBEEZZ-NF=A=+—ALFEL

=
g o

PR -E-hFE=A=+—BNEHBERN
RARRIRE 2 A AR E 8858 £ H5RTE 194,000
B (=T — )\ 1 1940008 7T) © ZENRIES
BIER  RERAREREEE -

R =T AF=ZA=Z+—BNERRIEEN
FE=F AR RIREEENERE AR A FAIR
T8 11,693,000/ 7T (= Z — /\4F : 12,495,000/87T) °
ZENFERERR  RORBREREEE -

R -ZE-AF=ZA=Z1+—BHNE&ESEE
229500087 FEZRARBKRILERAMBEAR
I FREHNITIRE TS RS RFARTE

T-AER-F-\FZA=t—R

FEES REMENFTIERES  MAKE
B5REMEBMNRIBZ RHERR SR FE
ZAREBHE -

AEBEREHERRTHREHN F30£180
B - BB SFURRER BB RE DTN

trade payables were as follows: T
2019 2018
—2-hE —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH T T
0-30 days 0%30H - 4,225
Over 365 days B8 365 H 58,979 106,821
58,979 111,046
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20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. R
Authorised Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each
FREE0.10/8 T2
EEEBR
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$’000
B8 A (FAR) FET
As at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, RZE—+tFMmMA—H -
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 —E-NFE=ZA=+—8"
—E-NFEOA—B K
—E-hFE=ZA=+—8H 2,000,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each

SREE0.10/BTZ
ERITRBEEBER
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$'000
RO E (FR) FE&T
As at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, RZZ—+FMmMA—H
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 —Z-NFE=ZA=+—8"
—E-N\FERA—AK
—T-hhF=ZA=+—H 1,356,250 135,625

30,000,000 warrants issued on 4 June 2012 and 60,000,000 warrants
issued on 26 July 2012 have initial subscription prices of HK$0.185
per share and HK$0.141 per share respectively for one ordinary share
of the Company exercisable for a period of five years. As at 31 March
2017: 90,000,000 warrants remained unexercised. Up to 26 July 2017,
90,000,000 warrants were expired and the warrant holders had not
exercised any of the subscription rights attached to the warrants. As
at 31 March 2019, there is no outstanding warrants issued by the
Company.

B =F— — 475 A A 1T 2 30,000,0001%
AREBER B ——F+ A+ RBEET
2 60,000,000 10 3R AX#E 7B A~ &) — R E i@
2 ¥ REBED R ABRISBTRE
frois B ZERREFEZ2TFEHRAR
FoRrZE—+tF=H=+—H 190,000,000
DRBEFHRITE BEE_T—+HF A
~+75H 90,000,000 17 R A% HEE B HA -
RRAEBR B AW RITERREZRE 2 F
AREE - N E—-NF=-A=+—H =K
PNE BT MR TT P A RARAERE -
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21. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 August 2011 ("Adoption Date”),
the Company adopted the new share option scheme (“New
Scheme’) on the Adoption Date. The major terms of the New
Scheme are summarised as follows:

(@)  The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group.

(b)  The participants include any employee or consultant, advisor,
agent, contractor, client or supplier of the Company or any
subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the board of directors
have contributed or are expected to contribute to the Group
("Participant”).

() The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregated exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

(d)  The initial total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) to
be granted under the scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issued at the day on which the New Scheme is
approved and such limit might be refreshed by shareholders
in general meeting.

(e)  The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the New
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group to
each Participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being
(the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant of options in excess
of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant shall be subject to the
issue of a circular to the shareholders and the shareholders’
approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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21. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

()

(i)

No sh

Unless the directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the New Scheme can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of the option may be accepted by a
Participant within 28 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price for shares under the New Scheme will
be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less
than the higher of:

the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day;

the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant;
and

the nominal value of the shares.
The New Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on the date on which the New Scheme is

adopted.

are options were granted by the Company or outstanding at

anytime during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).

21. BIHE (E)

()

—
=

BRAEERTRELEMARAREZ
BREBREZNEIHE - BAERA
BAGETERBERAIMELERNE
AR ITERZERETMRIRERF -

SEALTARRELBEREZL AT
AP EAEME L BREREL - BW
BROZBERE A BT 2R B
AHE -

Mt B TN ZABERRESTE
EZER EFASERTISRZE
B

BORBHEHBRBM(BLARZ
XB)EBMXAEERERMAT
Y :

Bt i BRI E X H HIAT R {E
R5BEBR IS BRERAT
FHRHE &

BfpmE -

#6814 B H 5T BVEIRM S B RS 10
FRBRHE -

BE-_Z-NE=A=1+—HBILFEERNEM
R - ANARIBEFR A T HARITHEE
BE(ZZE—N\F  8|) -
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22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF THE  22. & RIB &R AT

COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS'000
TET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB RERE 66 46
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR ZIEE 1,173 10,778
1,239 10,824
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE{TFRIE - &4 K H i e U 708 711 686
Cash and cash equivalents HEREEEEY 13,995 21,779
14,706 22,465
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIE R ESTE A 350 300
Net current assets REBEEFE 14,356 22,165
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBERS 15,595 32,989
Net assets EEFE 15,595 32,989
Equity =
Equity attributable to the owners AAREBAELER
of the Company
Share capital A% s 135,625 135,625
Reserves (note) it (MEE) (120,030) (102,636)
Total equity REREE 15,595 32,989
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
TER LCIp=S
Director Director
g E

138 Quantum Thinking Limited / Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR ERRM T

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONOF THE 22, AAD T B &4k R & (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: BiRE -
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: KRB ZREEEESWT :
Share Warrant Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
BRARE RRERRE KR i
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FBx FEx FEx
Asat 1 April 2017 R-_Z—+FMNA—H 101,852 900 (130,094) (27,342)
Total comprehensive expense FREEMATEEE
for the year - - (75,294) (75,294)
Release upon expiry of warrants TA RIS AE B JE I B R
(note 20) (Pif3E 20) - (900) 900 -
Asat 31 March2018and 1 April 2018 ~ R-Z—N\HE=A=+—H
k-Z—-\FMA—H 101,852 - (204,488) (102,636)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMASRE
for the year - - (17,394 (17,394
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZZE-hF=ZA=+—H 101,852 - (221,882) (120,030)
23. RESERVES 23, fEfE
(@) Share premium (@) BRHE
Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds B B B BT AN TR 5 B8 218
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value. SEERRMEEE Y IS o
(b) Warrant reserve (b) DIREEREE
Warrant reserve represents the unexercised equity element of AR KE B IS A D T BT AR
warrants issued by the Company. S R TERERSER D o
(c) Translation reserve () HifE
The translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign ANEE Y W IR R B ERE G N LT
exchange differences arising from the translation of the BTG R Y FEME N =58 o %
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt IR 2 A &S IR ERIE o

with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
24.
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24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24. EIEFREH
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFTBHAE
No deferred income tax liabilities have been recognised in the HRAREFR-_E—NER_T—\FE=A4
consolidated financial statements as the Group did not have material —t+—HZEEMEBZHEHERREY
temporary difference arising between the tax bases of assets and M EmEA B AT ER 0 W ERNGS
liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. MR ANERELEMESHREE -
Deferred income tax assets: EIEFEHRERE :
No deferred income tax assets have been recognised in the AR REEIETE OB REEE Z R HEF AR -
consolidated financial statements in respect of tax losses available to 1tk S 2 5 BT PR VR 8E R AROR A 2 B T S 12
offset future profits due to the uncertainty of future profit streams REEETTIERRPERELEMEREE - B
against which the asset can be utilised. At the reporting dates, the MERH  KREBZAMRBRERBEBNLOT :
unrecognised tax losses of the Group are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT
Tax losses MIEEE 130,410 100,923
25. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 25. REHERIE
As lessee ER AT A

At the reporting dates, the total future minimum lease payments
payable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of rented premises and equipment are as follows:

NE B AEEREEBEAYE RS
PR C Lt Gl 4 DS itiil
@I -

2019 2018

—E-NF —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TH T FH&T

Within one year —FR 7,054 182
In the second to fifth year E_EERF 2,938 -
9,992 182

The Group leases a number of premises and equipment under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to five
year (2018: one year), with an option to renew the leases and
renegotiate the terms at the expiry date.
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26.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 4 July 2018, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in the
Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd. (‘"Shenzhen
Quantum’) together with its subsidiary CITIC Cyber Security (70%
equity interest held by Shenzhen Quantum) for a cash consideration
of RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,139,000). CITIC
Cyber Security is engaged in the technical development and
software development of credible identity authentication services
related products in the PRC.

The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition date
were measured by reference to the proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

On 23 May 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, Shenzhen Anxin
Certification System Co,, Ltd. (“Shenzhen Anxin"), Shenzhen Quantum
and the original shareholder of Shenzhen Quantum entered into a
loan agreement of RMB3,500,000. Subsequently, Shenzhen Quantum
failed to repay the loan upon expiry. Pursuant to the loan agreement,
the original shareholder of Shenzhen Quantum transferred the entire
equity interest in Shenzhen Quantum to Shenzhen Anxin as a deemed
repayment of the loan and the consideration of the acquisition of
Shenzhen Quantum and its subsidiary. The acquisition process was
completed on 4 July 2018.

At the acquisition date, there is no material difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value on the identifiable assets acquired
based on the assessment performed by an independent valuer. The
deemed consideration of RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to HK$4,139,000)
was far below the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, a gain
on bargain purchase of HK$7,488,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

6. WHEHI B 1 7

R-ZZE—N\FEAMNA  AEERBEFRYI™
ETHREMEERAE(RINET ) ERE
B AR FENET (HRYIEFHFE 70%M%
)z 2EB00nkiE - ReERBAARE
3,500,000 7C (#8 & 7R 494,139,000 7T ) © {5
WL NP BIEERE H 0 RERSERER
HOF T B e B R B o

B B TR AR AR 28 TYE B 4
BB TS AEFEZ CRRE B2
DIzt -

R-Z—NFREA-+=H  AR2afBQ
AFNTLEERBRGER AR RERIE
D) FNETRFYNETFREBRRLITILA
R 35000000 2 Bk ek o Bk - RYIE
TRERDMBEZER - BREERHE -
BT RAEREERYE T2 BIEEE
TrRIlz (s - BESAEFEFTARIE R
NETREMBARZNE - WERRFR=
T— ) \F+AMHETK °

PUEE R ER - RIBE N (HERETT 2
FrEg AR B EE 7 REEEAFE 2 B
mEAER - BIEREZ ARME 35000007
(FEE 7 4,139,00078 70 ) B=AX R FTEE A AT 5 B
BEZNATE BRI 7,488,000 T
REE-Z-NAF=ZA=+—HIFENAE
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26. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table summarises the consideration paid for the
acquisitions, the aggregate amounts of provisional fair value of the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

26. WiRKIE AR ()
TRELR A S B S R

Property, plant and equipment, net

Deposits and other receivables

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Other payables

Amount due to a group subsidiary

Total identifiable net assets
Less: non-controlling interests

Identifiable net assets acquired
Cash consideration

Gain on bargain purchase

Cash paid on acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Before the acquisition, Shenzhen Quantum has entered into an
investment agreement containing certain profit guarantee

arrangement with the non-controlling shareholder of CITIC Cyber
Security:

(1) Inthe event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit
and loss) for the year ending 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit"), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year) x 30% x 10
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26.

27.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(2)  In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting
nonrecurring profit and loss) for the 3 years ending 31
December 2021 is less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net
profit attributable to the shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security
(after deducting nonrecurring profit and loss) for the 3 years
ending 31 December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000, there
is material default, or serious illegal business has been
undertaken by CITIC Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may
request Shenzhen Quantum to acquire the equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such investment agreement.

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company's announcement dated 12 October 2018. The Directors of
the Company consider the fair value of the liability arising from the
profit guarantee as at the acquisition date and at 31 March 2019
were insignificant by reference to a cash flow forecast prepared by
the Directors.

During the period from the acquisition date to 31 March 2019,
Shenzhen Quantum and CITIC Cyber Security have contributed a
total revenue of HK$201,000 and a net loss attributable to the
owners of the Group of HK$12,285,000.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, the consolidated
revenue and a net loss attributable to the owners of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019 would have been HK$201,000 and
HK$ 16,806,000 respectively. The proforma financial information is for
illustrative purpose only and does not necessarily reflect the Group’s
revenue and operating results if the acquisition has been completed
on 1 April 2018 and could not serve as a basis for the forecast of
future operation result.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group has not
entered into significant transactions with related parties other than
those disclosed in notes 16 and 19.

No transactions have been entered with the directors of the
Company (being the key management personnel) during the year
other than the emoluments paid to them (being the key
management personnel compensation) as disclosed in note 11.1.

26.

27.

WEEHIE AT (&)

Q WEE-—Z-_—F+-_A=t+—HLt
—EAFEFRERL KRBT FF
B (R IEL B ERE R EER) ER
AR®400000007T HE-_ZT = —F
T+ A=t+—BLl=AFEHRERL
AR ER EAE 5 FE (R IEE TR
B EE ) KR AR 120,000,000 7T
BAEEUEAONFPEELERELXR
BERLE  PERMATERIET
BIFABIRE W& 2 R IR E
FERIITEA 2 PIEEZ IR -

REBZNFBECHINARR AR/ =-F
—NFHAT-_HOHRER - ARAEER
R 2EMERRFHNESRERR - R
BEHHPER-_ZT-AF=A=1T—HBHNBER
BEENAEEATEBMIRE -

RUEBRE-_T—hhF=A=1+—HH
M RINETF RPERET 2B 201,000
BT MASBEHEEABLFEEAR
12,285,00078 7T °

W EN —T— \FNA—B%E  AEE
—T-NFZAZTt—RHIEFE  AEEE
B AL A W RFE D B A 201,000
7 IT % 16,806,000/ 7T ° #HE W K ERHEE
SRR TTEERBMEEENRZ=ZZ
—N\FMNA—HBEEZER T AEERZE R
KCERLE T REE AR R EEETEN 2
BE*o

HERRS

B2 NWFrE—N\F=ZA=+—H
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. MEREERAFENE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market NEFEEA TR SR BRARE - MR
risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk), % (B FRIMNERR - FIXRE R R ERRR)
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management EERBERBE SRR - AEEZEER
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and RE RS ERR S BMIS 2 Al EaE
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial MR AR RS RN EE M B RIBAE IR 2 BT
performance. THEE -
28.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 281 TRMEEREEZER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated REETBRAKREY ZBEEMERET
statement of financial position relate to the following NemEENSRBEERAER :

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FET
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets measured at amortized cost/ 15 #EfEAK Nt 8.2 G EE
loans and receivables B R EY A
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R HAEWEIR 3,390 44,531
— Cash and bank balances — IR MIRTTER 51,278 76,790
— Restricted cash — ZRHRE 735 42,063
55,403 163,384
Financial assets designated at fair value EEE AN TFEFAERZ
through profit or loss TEEE
Wealth management products B Em 49,204 24,365
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-)N\%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Financial liabilities A= N=Li
Financial liabilities measured at KA EZ AR
amortised cost
— Trade and other payables — B 5 REMERFRIE 85,825 139,231
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

28.2 Financial risk factors

Exposure to market risk (including foreign exchange risks,
interest rate risks and price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk
arises in the normal course of business. The risks are minimised
by the financial management policies and practices described
below:

Market Risk

(i)

(if)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk mainly arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

The management of the Group considers the foreign
exchange risk of the Group is not significant, and thus
does not have any active policies to hedge against the
foreign exchange risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk as the
Group has not held any financial assets that were
committed to floating interest rates.

Price risk

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than
changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates).
The Group has significant exposure to price risk as the
Group currently has certain financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss exposed to market
price.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

28.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued)
(iii) ~ Price risk (Continued)

The Group's price risk exposure is summarised as
follows:

28. IBEMEER A FENE (E)

282 A E E ()
™5 Bk (&)
(i) 1EEERE (&)
REBRERRBBMNT -

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Financial assets designated at fair 15 EHBIRA FEFAER
value through profit or loss ZEMEE
Wealth management products IBETE M 49,204 24,365

At 31 March 2019, if market price at that date had been
25 basis points (2018: 25 basis points) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, loss after tax for the
year would decrease/increase by HK$92,000 (2018:
decrease/increase by HK$46,000) and other
comprehensive expense would decrease/increase by
HKSnil (2018: decrease/increase by HKSnil).

In the opinion of the management the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the price risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 #E T —NF=A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

28.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and bank balances.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new customers
after a credit worthiness assessment by the credit control
department. When considered appropriate, customers may be
requested to provide proof as to their financial position. Where
available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or
reports on customers are obtained and used. Customers who
are not considered creditworthy are required to pay in
advance or on delivery of goods. Payment record of customers
is closely monitored. It is not the Group’s policy to request
collateral from its customers.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables using a provision matrix.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that receivables with
credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate
credit history and management performs ongoing credit
evaluations of the counterparties. The credit period granted to
the customers and the credit quality of these customers are
assessed, which takes into account their financial position,
past experience and available forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

28.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

28. IBEMEER A FENE (E)

282 M EREE (&)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Management considers that the loss allowance inherent in the
Group's outstanding trade receivables within one year are not
significant while loss allowance was made in full on the
Group's outstanding trade receivables over one year except
for customers with good credit quality after considering their
historical settlement record, credit quality and financial
position.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2019, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 75% and 100% of the total trade receivables are
due from the Group's largest trade debtor, respectively.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and available forward-
looking information. Management believes that the credit risk
inherent in the Group's outstanding other receivable balance
is not significant. Besides, management is of opinion that there
is no significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default is low
after considering the factors above.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group's
time deposits and bank balances are deposited with banks of
high credit ratings in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

28.2 Financial risk factors(Continued)
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities. The Group regularly
reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial
obligations.

The following tables detail the Group's contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

28. IBEMEER A FENE (E)

282 M EREE (&)

RBESEE
BEZRBDESARER  BEWRAER
RRZBEERBEES ARETEH
EHHETIZESMN  BREARR
MG ERABRITEMBARE -

TRV AEEZEBRABAHNED
FH o ARDRBAEER AT ER
EEcRABENRFANNERARE
BAFRBAGRERE - AR BEF

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. BRASHEERE ©
Total Carrying
undiscounted amount at
Within 1 year cash flow 31 March
ATHE R=ZA=t+—H
—FA RERELH ZAREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET THET THET
2019 —B-hEF
Non-derivative FFTESHMAE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables BE REHMEMNFE 85,825 85,825 85,825
2018 —E-N\F
Non-derivative financial liabilities JEFTAE SR B (&
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERFIE 139,231 139,231 139,231

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any derivative
financial liabilities (2018: nil).

R-F-NE=A=+—0 A%E
LREAGTESBAB(CE—NF
=) -

ETEHERAR / —E—NFERE 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
NN

V5 R B Rt

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VAL
28.3

150 Quant

UE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
the fair value hierarchy as follows:

28. IBEMEER A FENE (E)
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TEREJREBERFERE - AAFE
AR UBIMARZEREERA
B RBREFELFTEREER
BEZAVEMER 2 E2H ABE
ZHEEAEE SeREERAES
DREE - RHERBODRBATERE

F1E: HREERBBENEETSZ
WECRERHE)

F2/E  EEKBEMER (BIER)
(AR ERESE) T8
RZBABE(TEEE1E
FBazRE) &

F3E : WIHRBABR 2T HIEM
BHZEERAEH ABUE
(ELERBABE) -

TRHEEXRBERAEREAZA
BEREBRAZER  HERERFE
EBEAZHEERGABIEED -

E'Z
&t

REFABMBERRKRANR A FEFEZ
EMEERABDED BATZAYF
B2

Level 2
H2fE
2019 2018
2N —T)\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Assets BE
Financial assets designated at fair EEZRAFEFABR
value through profit or loss: LEMEE
Wealth management products B Em 49,204 24,365
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—NF=A=1+—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VAL
28.3

28.4

UE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Some of the wealth management products are not publicly
traded, the fair values presented are determined by calculating
the present value of the estimated cash flows upon maturity
of these financial assets. Future cash flows are estimated based
on the contracted interest rates, discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of the Group or the counterparties, as
appropriate. Interest rates of these wealth management
products vary depending on the return rate of the relevant
short term bonds, money market investment fund and bank
deposits.

Some of the wealth management products are derived from
net asset values of the investment funds with reference to
observable quoted price of underlying investment portfolio in
active markets.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2, and 3 during the
year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments carried at
amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
asat 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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29.

30.

NE=A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for equity holders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital
to equity holders, issue new shares or reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as a percentage of bank borrowings and long-term
debts over total equity. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2019, the Group’s gearing ratio was not
presented as the Group has no bank borrowing and long-term
debts.

LITIGATION

As of 31 March 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huagin
was involved in material litigation that a supplier of Beijing Huagin
filed a litigation with Shanghai Municipal Intermediate People’s
Court No. 1 against Beijing Huagin for compensation on default in
payment due to the disagreement of the goods' quantity delivered.

On 31 May 2018, the court ordered Beijing Huagin to fully settle the
alleged amount involved in the litigation in respect of the default
payment for the supply of goods. As at 31 March 2019, amount of
trade payables with the penalty cost of HK$58,800,000 (equivalent to
RMB50,286,000) (2018: HK$100,669,000 (equivalent to
RMB80,568,000)) was recorded in trade payables. The relevant
penalty cost of HK$2,827,000 (equivalent to RMB2,417,000) was
included in administrative expenses during the year. As at 31 March
2019, bank balance of HK$735,000 (equivalent to RMB629,000) was
restricted due to the litigation.
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